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PREFACE

As this book is in the first place an introduction, the bibliography does not include unpublished
materials such as waqf deeds, though they might be referred to in the text. For the same reason un-
published theses, of which the universities of Cairo hold a large number of interest to this subject, have
not been cited.

Some buildings are dealt with only in the first, general part and have not been studied individually,
such as the sabils of the Ottoman period or the buildings of ‘Abd al-Rahman Katkhuda.

To locate the monuments studied in this book, their index numbers are indicated in the list of Con-
tents and, with the help of the Survey Map of the Islamic Monuments of Cairo, these will guide the
reader to the sites.

The photographs, unless otherwise indicated, are by Mr. Muhammad Yusuf, chief photographer at
al-Ahram newspaper, and Mr. Martin Huth. A few are by the author.

The plans that accompany the text are the work of either K.A.C. Creswell or the ‘‘Committee for the
Preservation of the Islamic Monuments of Cairo’’, whose material is now in the Department of Anti-
quities.

Drawings published in The Mosques of Egypt, Ministry of Waqfs, Cairo 1949, have been used among
the illustrations, as well as drawings made by Mr. Vilmos Sipos.
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French evacuate Egypt; control restored to Ottomans

Muhammad °All expels the Ottoman governor and massacres the last Mamluks
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CHAPTER ONE

THE CITY

Cairo’s architectural monuments rank among human-
ity’s great achievements. Recognizing that their preser-
vation is a matter of importance to the whole world,
UNESCO has listed the Egyptian capital as one of the
“‘Cities of Human Heritage.”’ Such recognition is well
Justified, for few cities on earth display such a dense
concentration of historic architectural treasures as does
Cairo.

This concentration reflects the political situation of
Islamic Egypt, which never had another capital outside
the space occupied by the city we now call Cairo. His-
torians describe a series of capital cities—al-Fustat, al-
‘Askar, al-Qata’i and al-Qahira—but all of these were
within sight of one another and eventually became a
single city. Cairo has been the uninterrupted center of
power in Egypt since the year 641.

Continuous, centralized power in one area distin-
guishes Egypt from other Islamic nations such as Syria,
Iraq, Anatolia, Andalusia, and Persia, where different
cities vied for supremacy in different epochs, sometimes
simultaneously. Muslim Egypt was ruled from a single
site, the area between the mosque of “Amr in the south
and Bab al-Nasr and Bab al-Fiatah to the north. Out-
side this area very few medieval buildings of interest
have survived, while within it, a large number of
Egypt’s medieval and post-medieval monuments still
stand, witnesses to more than eleven centuries of
history.

AL-FusTAT, AL-ASKAR, AL-QATA’IC

What we today call Cairo, or al-Qahira, is an
agglomeration of four cities founded within the area.
The name al-Qahira did not exist until the last of these
was created in 969 as capital of Egypt under the
Fatimids. Before this city came a succession of capitals
beginning with al-Fustat (641), the Abbasid foundation
of al-‘Askar (750), and the Tulunid establishment of al-
Qata’ic (870).

Al-Fustat was founded as the capital of Egypt just
after the Arab conquest of Egypt. Its location was a
strategic decision by the Caliph “Umar Ibn al-Khattab

in Medina, for although Alexandria was capital of
Egypt at the time of the conquest, the Caliph preferred
to settle his troops in an area less remote from the Ara-
bian Peninsula. ‘Amr Ibn al-‘As, commander of the
Caliph’s troops in Egypt, thus abandoned his plans to
settle in the former capital on the Mediterranean. The
new capital, at the apex of the Nile Delta, was strate-
gically situated near the Roman fortress town of
Babylon. This site, at the junction of Upper and Lower
Egypt, allowed easy communication with the Arabian
Peninsula without crossing the Nile and its Delta
branches. “Amr Ibn al-As redug the ancient canal con-
necting the Nile with the Red Sea, further facilitating
communication with the Caliphate in the Hejaz. Al-
Fustat soon eclipsed Alexandria as the commercial and
industrial center of Egypt, receiving goods from Upper
and Lower Egypt and from the Mediterranean at its
Nile port. In the ninth century, however, the Khalij or
canal connecting the Nile with the Red Sea was par-
tially filled in, and all that was left was a pond southeast
of the Delta called Birkat al-Hayjj, the first station on the
caravan road to Mecca.

Al-Fustat was typical of the garrison cities estab-
lished in the early days of the Arab conquests. Like
Kufa and Basra in Iraq and Qayrawan in Tunisia, it
was an unplanned agglomeration that later crystallized
into true urban form. At the center of al-Fustat was the
mosque of “Amr, a simple construction for the religious
needs of the troops and, adjacent to it, the com-
mander’s house. The mosque overlooked the Nile,
whose channel was much closer to it than it i1s now. Al-
Fustat was originally divided into distinct quarters
occupied by the various tribes of the conquering army.
This garrison gradually developed into a large town
engulfing the town of Babylon around the Roman
fortress.

Al-Fustat acquired its first satellite city after the
Abbasids overthrew the Umayyad Caliphate of Da-
mascus in 750 and established their new capital at
Baghdad. In order to reinforce their grip on the Egyp-
tian province, the new rulers immediately sent troops
and founded a new capital, al-“Askar (‘‘the soldiers’),
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with a new mosque and governor’s palace, to the north-
east of al-Fustat. Despite the foundation of this satellite
city, al-Fustat continued for some time to be the
administrative and commercial center. In the following
period, the two communities of al-Fustat and al-‘Askar
fused into a larger city designated simply as al-Fustat,
stretching to the Nile in the west and to the foot of the
Mugattam hill to the east and north. The Great
Mosque of al-‘Askar had already disappeared in the
Middle Ages, and Maqrizi, the Egyptian historian of
the early fifteenth century, mentions it only briefly.

Following the precedent set by the Abbasids in
founding al-‘Askar, later dynasties created for them-
selves new seats of power, each farther to the northeast,
farther inland, and each more grandiose than the last.
Ahmad Ibn Talan, sent to Egypt in 868 as the Abbasid
Caliph’s governor, soon asserted his independence,
founding a new ruling dynasty (868-905) and a new
capital, al-Qatd’i® (‘‘the wards’’), northeast of the
Fustat-al-‘Askar complex. The new city, standing on
higher ground than al-‘Askar, on the hill called Jabal
Yashkur, the area today including the mosque of Ibn
Talun and the foot of the Citadel, was remote from the
commercial and industrial center of al-Fustat and its
busy port. It was celebrated as a magnificent pleasure
city, especially under the reign of Ibn Tdlan’s son
Khumarawayh.

Ibn Tulan constructed a grand palace with vast
gardens and a menagerie, as well as a hippodrome for
horse races, polo, and other chivalric games. The
hippodrome had a special triple gate, where Ibn Talin
entered alone through the middle arch flanked by his
soldiers marching through the side arches. The Gate of
Lions, another of the hippodrome’s entrances, was sur-
mounted by two lions in stucco and a belvedere or
gallery for the ruler.

Ibn Tualun’s son Khumarawayh embellished the
works of his father in many ways. He furnished one of
his belvederes, the Golden House, with statues of
women painted and adorned with jewelry, representing
his slaves and singers. Khumarawayh took special care
of the garden of rare flowers and trees. Tree trunks
were coated with gilded copper from which pipes
trickled water into canals and fountains to irrigate the
garden, and nearby was an aviary with singing birds.
Most remarkable was a pool of mercury, where
Khumarawayh, an insomniac, lay on an air mattress
trying to rock himself to sleep. The entire complex,
with its gardens, huge stables and menagerie of wild
animals, did not overlook the Nile but rather the Birkat

al-F1l, a large pond connected to the Khalij. In the sur-
rounding area, luxury markets soon sprang up to serve
the tastes of officers and notables.

The Tulunid age with all its luxurious trappings
came to an end in 905 when the Abbasid troops once
again marched on Egypt, this time to reestablish order
and replace the dynasty whose sovereigns had lived so
sumptuously. During this campaign, the entire city of
al-Qata’i was razed to the ground except for Ibn
Talan’s aqueduct and his mosque, the oldest mosque
in Egypt surviving in its original form.

AL-QAHIRA

The fourth palatial satellite city was born with the
conquest of Egypt by the Fatimids, an Isma‘ili Shi‘a
dynasty originating in North Africa. The fourth Fati-
mid Caliph, al-Mu€zz Ii-Din Allah, with his general
Jawhar al-Siqilli, overthrew the Ikhshidids who had
ruled Egypt between 934 and 969. Egypt’s status rose
with that of its conquerors; it became the seat of a
Caliphate.

Jawhar accordingly began construction on the walls
which were to enclose the new caliphal residence. Al-
Mu‘izz first named the site al-Mansiriyya after his
father, the Caliph al-Mansir, but four years later
renamed it al-Qzhira (The Victorious) after al-Qahir,
the planet Mars, in ascendance when the signal was
given to break ground for the new capital. The new
construction was completed in 971, with quarters for
the various ethnic groups composing the Fatimid army:
Greeks, other Europeans, Berbers,
Sudanese, and Turks.

Facing a huge esplanade for ceremonial activities,
the palace complex of the Caliph stood midway along
the artery that cut the city into two unequal parts on an
approximate north-south axis. The residences occupied
the heart of the new imperial city into which the Caliph
al-Mu‘izz made his triumphal entry in 974.

Armenians,

Tuae Two CITIES

Under the Fatimids, al-Qahira became the seat of
power, a ceremonial, residential center where the
Caliph dwelt with his court and army, but al-Fustat
remained the productive and economic center of Egypt.
The older city, by that time called simply Misr, had
grown into a flourishing metropolis. Travelers visiting
it from the tenth to the mid-eleventh centuries reported
that it competed in grandeur and prosperity with the
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Pl. 1. T'abbana Street in the nineteenth century (Coste).

greatest Islamic cities of the time. Al-Muqaddasi in the
tenth century described the highrise buildings of al-
Fustat as resembling minarets. According to Nasirl
Khusraw, a Persian traveler of the early eleventh cen-
tury, some of these buildings climbed as high as four-
teen stories up to roof gardens complete with ox-drawn
water wheels for irrigating them. Khusraw dedicates
long descriptive passages to the city’s thriving markets,
and finally confesses, ‘‘I have seen so much wealth in
al-Fustat that if I tried to list or describe 1t, my words
would not be believed. I found it impossible to count or
estimate it.”’

Recent excavations at al-Fustat have corroborated
some of these contemporary descriptions. Eyewitnesses
wrote that in the densest part of the city, around the
mosque of ‘“Amr, merchants displayed goods from all
over the world. Excavations have revealed Chinese
wares of the most refined quality that found their way

to al-Fustat. The digs have also revealed considerable
sophistication below the street level. The intricate
sewerage system took advantage of differing altitudes of
al-Fustat’s terrain to distribute water and eliminate
wastes. According to other visitors’ accounts, al-Fustat
also suffered, for all its glory and sophistication, from
problems familiar to the inhabitants of modern cities.
The physician Ibn Ridwan (d. 1068) thought the streets
were too narrow for their high buildings. The hills to
the east and north prevented proper ventilation of the
city so that the stagnant air became polluted, particu-
larly with smoke from the furnaces of a multitude of
steam baths. Dead animals thrown into the Nile con-
taminated the drinking water, and the congestion and
dilapidation of the heart of al-Fustat shocked some
visitors. In the twelfth century Ibn Sa‘ld from Seville
noted that the mosque of ‘“Amr had fallen victim to a
traffic problem. The monument, its premises crowded
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Pl 2. Southern Cairo and the cemetery (Roberts).

with women, children and peddlers and its walls
covered with graffiti, served the city’s population as a
short-cut between two streets.

Al-Qahira, on the other hand, stood high above the
problems of the mother city. Nasir1 Khusraw, describ-
ing the Fatimid Caliph’s city, refers to mansions and
gardens of incredible beauty. Of the palace complex,
dominating the center of town like a mountain, he
writes:

[ saw a series of buildings, terraces and rooms. There were
twelve adjoining pavilions, all of them square in shape. ...
There was a throne in one of them that took up the entire
width of the room. Three of its sides were made of gold
on which were hunting scenes depicting riders racing their
horses and other subjects; there were also inscriptions
written in beautiful characters. The rugs and hangings
were Greek satin and moire woven precisely to fit the spot
where they were to be placed. A balustrade of golden lat-
tice work surrounded the throne, whose beauty defies all
description. Behind the throne were steps of silver. I saw
a tree that looked like an orange tree, whose branches,
leaves and fruits were made of sugar. A thousand statu-
ettes and figurines also made of sugar were also placed
there.

A French ambassador to Cairo, speaking of the
palace in 1167, mentions floors of colored marble,
grouted with gold, and a courtyard surrounded by
magnificent colonnaded porticos. Water from a central
fountain trickled through gold and silver pipes into
channels and pools. There was a menagerie and an
aviary filled with exotically colored birds from all over
the world. Long passages of Maqrizi’s account tell of
the different treasure halls of the Fatimid palaces and
an academy with a vast library.

These accounts imply that by the end of the eleventh
century, Egypt’s two symbiotic capitals, Misr and al-
Qahira, physically manifested the separation between
the indigenous people and the ruling elite. The larger
one, Misr, supported the productive and mercantile
population, while al-Qahira was inhabited exclusively
by the foreign rulers and their entourage. Commoners
employed in the royal city returned to al-Fustat (Misr)
at the end of the working day. Each city had a port.
That of al-Fustat was close to its markets, while al-
Mags or Umm Dunayn (the pre-Islamic village of Tan-
dunias) harbored the Fatimid fleet. This situation,
however, did not survive the next century.

In the twelfth century a series of natural catas-
trophes, plague followed by famine and a violent earth-
quake, severely depopulated al-Fustat and arrested its
development. Al-Qata’i®, on the northern outskirts,
had not recovered from its destruction by Abbasid
troops. The Fatimid vizier Badr al-Jamali, responding
to the situation, permitted the transfer of some markets
to al-Qahira and allowed wealthy citizens to build new
houses in the formerly exclusive city. Al-Fustat was
thus already in decline when the French King Amaury
(Amalric) and his Crusaders came from Jerusalem to
attack Egypt. Nar al-Din of Syria sent his armies to aid
the Fatimids, and the Muslim troops, led by Shirkih
and his nephew Salah al-Din, fought the Crusaders
from 1164 to 1169. During these campaigns the
Fatimid vizier Shawar is reported to have ordered the
burning of al-Fustat to stop the invaders. After his vic-
tory over the Franks, Salah al-Din became vizier under
the last Fatimid Caliph, whom he overthrew in 1171,
reestablishing the supremacy of the Sunni Caliphate of
Baghdad and ending two centuries of Isma‘ili Shi‘ite
rule in Egypt.

These upheavals consolidated changes already in
progress. Once opened to whoever wished to live there,
al-Qahira completely eclipsed al-Fustat. The suburbs of
the older city had decayed, leaving large empty spaces
between al-Fustat and al-Qahira. $alah al-Din set out
to enclose both cities and the intervening areas within
one long set of walls. Undaunted by the enormity of the
task, he also intended his wall to extend westward
across the Khalij to include the port of al-Mags, and
eastward to al-Mugattam, where he began his Citadel
in the Syrian tradition of hilltop fortifications. He died
before these projects were completed, and the walls of
Cairo were never continued. The Citadel, however,
designed not only as a fortress but also as the residence
of sultans, was enlarged and embellished with new
buildings throughout its history.
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Pl. 3. Nineteenth century houses along the canal of Cairo
(Coste).

THE OUTSKIRTS

The city expanded on all sides under subsequent
rulers. Under the Mamluks there was extensive devel-
opment along the road leading from Bab Zuwayla to
the Citadel and its royal palaces. Natural forces played
a part as well. The Nile’s course shifted to the west in
the fourteenth century, transforming the island of
Bulaq into a port on the eastern bank and leaving al-
Magqs, which Saldh al-Din had planned to fortify, far
inland. On the eastern edge of al-Qahira the cemetery
founded by al-Nasir Muhammad, like that of Fustat
farther to the south, expanded into the desert and soon
became the site of important religious foundations.

The Khali), which for centuries had formed the
western border of the city, fed a number of ponds in the
western, northern and southern outskirts. The Nile
flooded these ponds in summer, leaving their beds
green with vegetation when the waters receded. The
beauty of these ponds made them the summer resorts
of Cairenes, and many princely residences were built
near them, particularly the Birkat al-Fil in the south.
The pond of Azbakiyya came into vogue during the late
Mamluk period and remained fashionable under the
Ottomans. Orchards and pleasure buildings on the
western bank of the Khalij gradually gave way to
urbanization during the Ottoman period (1517-1914),
as the city’s northern areas expanded toward the Nile.

Tue NamEes-orF CAIRO

The word Cairo is derived from the Arabic al-
Qahira, which is not, however, the name commonly
used by Egyptians to designate their capital. They have
always called it Masr (the popular form of Misr, mean-
ing Egypt). Al-Qahira is the official term used in writ-
ten Arabic today.

Egyptian medieval historians make a clear distinc-
tion between Misr and Al-Qahira. Al-Qahira is the
name of that part of the capital established in 969 by the
Fatimid dynasty as its residential city. Misr is the

. abbreviation of Fustat-Misr, or Fustat of Egypt, desig-

nating the first Muslim capital of Egypt founded by the
Arab general ‘“Amr Ibn al-‘As in 641-42.

There are two interpretations of the word Fustat.
While European scholars usually derive it from the
Greek and Latin fossatum meaning trench, which could
be a pre-Islamic local toponym, Arab scholars prefer to
interpret it as the Arabic fusfaf, meaning tent. Accord-
ing to legend, the name originated when the Arab
troops on their way to Alexandria left the tent of ‘Amr
Ibn al-As behind in order not to disturb a dove that
had built a nest in it. In time, people dropped the word
al-Fustit, and the area of the early Arab foundation
was once again known as Misr. The term Misr was
later extended to refer to the whole capital, composed
of both al-Fustat and al-Qahira. Ottoman coins from
Egypt are inscribed, durtba fi misr, ‘‘struck in Misr”’,
and Ottoman coins always refer to the city rather than
to the province where they were struck. The mint was
at the Citadel, in al-Qahira. In the Ottoman period al-
Fustat (or Misr) itself was called Misr al-Atiqa, refer-
ring to the part of the city today called Misr al-Qadima,
meaning Old Misr. Many people still call it Misr
al-“Atiqa.

The habit of calling the entire Egyptian capital
Cairo, or al-Qahira, was begun by Europeans who
visited Egypt. The name was reinforced by Napoleon’s
French scholars, who made a scholarly survey of the
city which they called Le Kaire, translated by the
British as Cairo. Cairo’s traditional byname is Misr al-
Mahrusa, or Cairo, the Protected City.

Despite its many losses, Cairo has been spared
wholesale devastations by wars and other calamities,
and today offers us a wealth of historic architecture.



CHAPTER TWO

STYLISTIC EVOLUTION OF ISLAMICGC
ARCHITECTURE IN CAIRO

THE FATIMID PERIOD (969-1167)

Not before the establishment of a Caliphate in Egypt
under the Fatimids did an indigenous style in art and
architecture crystallize. The mosque of Ibn Tilan,
despite a few wvariations, is still a product of the
Abbassid court art of Samarra.

While the arrival of a new dynasty need not auto-
matically bring with 1t a change of style in arts and
crafts, a new political system necessarily shapes the
environment of the craftsman and thus brings new
influences to bear upon his inherited methods and
experience. The Fatimid reign promoted Egypt from a
tribute-paying governorate within a Caliphate to a
Caliphate itself, with Cairo the imperial capital.

Cairo’s new status as seat of the Fatimid Caliphate
led to the emergence of a new, individual style. The
arts and architecture of the Fatimid period show an
integrated use of Coptic, Byzantine and Samarran
elements. Foreign forms in Fatimid architecture and
decoration thus express not a provincial version of an
imperial prototype, but a demonstration that the new
imperial city had considerable attraction for craftsmen
and artists from many traditions in and outside Egypt.

The Fatimid dynasty ruled Egypt between 969 and
1171. They came from North Africa, where they had
established an empire prior to their conquest of Egypt.
They were Shi‘a Muslims of the Isma‘lli branch, claim-
ing descent from the Prophet through his daughter
Fatima (hence their name) and his son-in-law, the
Caliph “All Ibn Abi Talib, whom Shi‘ites especially
venerate. The saahada, or tenet of the Muslim faith,
“There is no God but Allah and Muhammad is the
Prophet of Allah,”” when spoken by Shi‘ites is sup-
plemented by the phrase, ‘Ali waliyyu *llah, <*‘Ali is the
Protected of God.”” According to Shi‘a doctrine, the
only legitimate and authoritative religious leaders are
the imams, or descendants of “Ali through his sons from
Fatima, al-Hasan and al-Husayn. The imams, because
of their ancestry, were considered by the Isma‘ilis to be

Pl. 4. Trilobed arch at Bab Zuwayla.

divinely inspired and therefore infallible. The Fatimid
Caliphs were the imams of the community.

Under Fatimid Shi‘a rule, most of the Egyptian
population continued to be faithful to Sunnism, and
were thus separated from their rulers by a religious bar-
rier. This religious barrier might explain the building
of a certain type of shrine, such as the Fatimid
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Pl. 5. The base of the dome added by Caliph Al-Hafiz 1i Din
Allah at al-Azbar; window grill inlaid with colored glass.

mashhads, memorial foundations dedicated to descen-
dants of the Prophet Muhammad who had died much
earlier and most of whom had no connection with
Egypt at all. These shrines, such as the shrines of
Sayyida Nafisa, Sayyida Zaynab, and al-Husayn
venerated by both Shi‘a and Sunni Muslims, are still
venerated today, helped bridge the religious gap
between rulers and subjects, and also enhanced the
prestige of the Fatimid rulers, themselves descendants
and relatives of the worshipped saints. Memorial
buildings of this type were not peculiar to Egypt; they
had appeared earlier in other parts of the Muslim world
as well.

The Fatimid Caliphs were not buried in cemeteries,
but within the confines of their own palaces. Their
tombs and those of their ancestors were considered as
shrines and visited on religious and official occasions.
The outstanding architectural achievement of the
Fatimid Caliphs, according to travelers’ and historians’
accounts, were their palaces. As nothing of these have
survived except written descriptions, our visual expe-
rience of Fatimid architecture is restricted to a few sur-
viving shrines, mosques, and the city gates. Though
limited in number, these monuments show us the great
creativity of Fatimid architecture and decoration, and
the reasons for its long lasting influence in subsequent
periods.

Fatimid mosques retained the hypostyle mosque
plan, with column-supported arcades surrounding a
courtyard. However, the keel arch was introduced,
usually carried on pre-Islamic Corinthian capitals. An
Islamic type of capital in the shape of a bell was used,

and the shape was often repeated underneath the col-
umn to form its base, though set upside down. The
piers of the mosque of Ibn Talan already had such
capitals and bases.

The prayer niche of a Fatimid mosque is always
enhanced architecturally, either by a dome above it or
by a transept (al-Azhar and al-Hakim have both), or by
a widening of the aisle adjacent to the qibla wall
(al-Agmar mosque), or the aisle perpendicular to it
(al-Salih Tala’i® mosque).

Aligning the facade of the mosque to the street, a
feature characteristic of Cairene medieval architecture,
appears for the first time in the Fatimid period. The al-
Agmar mosque is the earliest extant example, and is
also the earliest extant example of an extensively
decorated mosque facade. Facade decoration with
recesses in which windows are placed is first seen at the
mosque of al-Salih Tala’i‘, and the location of a
mosque above shops was also initiated during this
period.

Fatimid minaret shapes show a clear evolution from
al-Juyashl to Aba’l-Ghadanfar toward the mabkhara
shape, a term meaning ‘‘incense burner,”” which was
used by Creswell to designate a rectangular shaft sup-
porting an octagonal section with a ribbed helmet. This
minaret shape, not, by the way, reminiscent of any
known type of incense burner, was to become typical of
minarets for the next two centuries.

It is known that marble was used for decoration,
thaugh none used in mosques has remained in place.
Stucco, wood and stone carvings display floral designs,
arabesques derived from Samarran and Byzantine
motifs, and geometric patterns. Kufic inscription bands
become increasingly ornate. Window grills have floral
as well as geometric designs, and glass in stucco grills
appears for the first time, a feature that was common
from then on.

The Fatimid period introduced decorative features
such as the keel-arched niche with fluted radiating
hood, a variation on a late classic theme used widely in
Coptic art. This fluted niche hood must have inspired
architects to build fluted domes, a style continued in
Mamluk architecture. The Fatimid use of inscription
bands along the arches, however, was not continued,
and is confined to the Fatimid period.

Although Samarran and Byzantine motifs inspired
Fatimid decoration, these were further developed and
modified into a complex and less repetitive treatment,
emphasizing accommodation to the surface to be
decorated.
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Pl. 6. Prayer niche of al-Afdal Shahinsh3h at the mosque of
Ibn Talan (drawing, ““The Mosques of Egypt’’).

THE AYYUBID PERIOD (1171-1250)

The Ayyubids, who adhered to the Shafi‘i rite of
Islamic law, allowed only one Friday mosque within an
urban area, which explains why they did not build any
new major mosques. They built instead a number of
madrasas, of which only one has survived. Many of
their madrasas were established in houses or palaces.

The madrasa was an institution sponsored by
members of the ruling class for teaching theology and
law according to an officially approved curriculum.
Teaching in mosques was common since the beginning
of Islamic history, but these early teaching institutions
were private initiatives not subject to state control. The
Shi‘ites were the first to found official teaching institu-

Pl. 7. The minaret of Abu’l-Ghadanfar, 1157.

tions for the propagation of their own doctrine, as at
al-Azhar. The Sunnis therefore emulated the system,
promoting the madrasas to counteract Shi‘a prop-
aganda.

In a madrasa, the student acquired a higher educa-
tion in law and theology to enable him to undertake
scholarly or administrative duties. He was given food,
lodging, clothing, and even a stipend. The khanqah
was for the Sufis, who espoused the mystic, esoteric
approach to religion, in which seclusion and ascetism
played important roles. In the early khanqah, the Sufis
led a monastic life according to their own strict regula-
tions and were also sponsored in the same manner as
the students of the madrasa.

Imam Shafif, founder of the rite known by his
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name, who lived and died in Egypt, was especially
revered by the Ayyubids. The first madrasa in Egypt
was built by Salah al-Din near the tomb of Imam
Shafi‘i at the cemetery of al-Fustat. Salah al-Din also
sponsored a magnificent wooden cenotaph on the
Imam’s grave, still in place today. Nothing of the
madrasa has survived.

The first khangah of Egypt, also introduced by Salah
al-Din, was established on the premises of a Fatimd
palace in the center of al-Qahira. It too has not sur-
vived, but throughout the medieval period it was one
of the most important khanqahs of Cairo. Originally,
it was exclusively for Sufis from outside Egypt.

ARCHITECTURE

The break into the political and religious system
introduced by Ayyubid rule in Egypt did not affect the
arts to the same extent, although it led necessarily to
innovations in the field of architecture, required by the
establishment of new forms of religious institutions.

The madrasa and the khangah which were both
planned to lodge their respective communities of stu-
dents and Sufis, were necessarily built on a plan dif-
ferent from that of the traditional mosque. They had to
include living units, a kitchen, sometimes a bath, a
reception hall and stables which are elements of
domestic architecture. Thus the iwan, which historians
mention in an earlier residential context, was adopted
in madrasa and khanqah architecture. In its classic
form, 1t was a hall open on one side and covered by a
vault or a flat ceiling. In Cairo, early iwans—Ayyubid
and Bahri Mamluk—were vaulted; in the later
Mamluk period they were often covered with a wooden
ceiling. At the madrasa of al-Salih Najm al-Din, two
iwans face each other across a courtyard with the living
units on the lateral sides built on several stories. At the
end of the thirteenth century, the so-called cruciform
plan was adopted with four unequal Twans framing the
courtyard and the living quarters occupying the corners
of the courtyard.

In funerary architecture, the mausoleum of Imam
Shafi‘T continued the shrine tradition established by the
Fatimids, on a superlative scale and with new meaning.
The Imam Shafi‘c dome, like that of al-Salih Najm
al-Din, has a feature alien to Fatimid domes: its profile
curves near the springing of the dome. This dome,
however, was restored several times, and it is possible
that its shape was remodeled, in which case the dome

Pl. 8. Minaret base from the Ayyubid period at the shrine of
al-Husayn.

of al-Silih Najm al-Din would be the earliest extant
example of this type of dome profile.

The facade of the madrasa of al-Salih Najm al-Din
follows the pattern introduced at the mosque of al-Salih
Tala’i¢, with windows in recessed panels along the
whole length of the facade.

The minaret of al-Salih Najm al-Din 1s of the
mabkhara type decorated with stalactites. The earliest
mabkhara minaret, that of Abu’l-Ghadanfar (1157), is
without stalactites.

There are two undated buildings attributed by
Creswell to the late Ayyubid decade that could also



STYLISTIC EVOLUTION OF ISLAMIC ARCHITECTURE IN CAIRO 13

have been built in the first Mamluk decade. In either
case, they deserve some mention here, as they represent
a further step in the evolution of Cairo architecture of
the mid-thirteenth century.

The Minarel of Zawiyat al-Hunid

One of these is 2 minaret known by its later designa-
tion as the minaret of Zawiyat al-Hunad. It is a
mabkhara minaret which has retained more decora-
tions than that of al-Salih, with lozenges and keel
arches and more stalactites. Its silhouette is more
slender and elongated, and it therefore might well have
been built around 1250, as Creswell suggests.

The Mausoleum of the Abbasid Caliphs

The other building is known as the mausoleum of the
Abbasid Caliphs, as several Abbasid Caliphs were
buried there after Sultan al-Zahir Baybars founded a
nominal Abbasid Caliphate in Cairo following the sack
of Baghdad by the Mongols. It adjoins the shrine of
Sayyida Nafisa in the cemetery of Fustat and is
undated.

The mausoleum includes several cenotaphs, the
earliest of which 1s that of an ambassador of the
Abbasid court named Nadla, who died in Egypt in
1243. There are also two sons of the Mamluk Sultan al-
Zahir Baybars buried under the same dome and other
later Caliphs’ cenotaphs. The cenotaphs of course do
not date the mausoleum itself; it might be older or later
than the tombs. Creswell identifies it as having been
built originally for Nadla, the ambassador of the
Abbasid Caliph, in 1243. Other arguments, such as the
extraordinarily lavish decoration, favor its attribution
to Sultan al-Zahir Baybars who would have built it for
his sons in the 1260’s, especially since the enclosure in
which the mausoleum stands axially is assigned to al-
Zahir Baybars.

The mausoleum of the Abbasid Caliphs is one of the
most finely decorated buildings of medieval Cairo. Its
dome’s interior is covered with exquisitely carved stuc-
co and painted medallions. It has a band of braided,
painted Kufic script in its lower part, the only example
in Cairene architectural decoration. The architec-

Pl. 9. The minaret of Zawiyat al-Hunuad, ca. 1250 (Depart-
ment of Antiquities).
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Pl. 10. Keel-arched niche at the mausoleumn of the Abbasid
Caliphs, mid-thirteenth century.

turally interesting feature of this building, whose
exterior is very similar to that of Shajarat al-Durr in
keel profile and carvings, lies in the transitional zone of
the dome. Two-tiered squinches alternating with two-
tiered windows resemble those at Sayyida Ruqayya,
but here the space between squinch and windows is
filled with niches so that the whole octagonal zone
appears as a ring of niches, some forming stalactite
squinches, some pierced with windows for light, and
others carved to match the overall composition.

If this mausoleum is late Ayyubid as Creswell
assumes (1242/3), this would be the first use of this
device, a year earlier than in al-Salih’s dome (1243/4).
This treatment of the transitional zone was subse-
quently adopted in all domes with squinches.

DEecoraTiON

Ayyubid decoration is quite distinct from that used
by the Fatimids. The arabesques are more abstract and
more intricate, to the extent that the basic design is

Pl. 11. The transitional zone of the dome of the Abbasid
Caliphs, mid-thirteenth century.

concealed behind the densely carved curves very
minutely and extremely delicately executed. Their
basic arrangement, however, follows the usual
geometric rules.

Indeed, the stuccos resemble lace, a prominent
example being on the base of a minaret added in 1237
to the shrine of al-Husayn whose original top has not
survived. The decoration of Shajarat al-Durr’s dome
gives the same impression. Stucco window grills are no
longer treated geometrically; arabesques are used
instead. Work in stone and wood follows the same
trend. The woodwork of the cenotaphs of Imam Shafi‘t
and the one added to the shrine of al-Husayn (now in
the Islamic Museum) are perhaps the most beautiful in
Cairo’s history. They are carved in deep relief in floral
and geometric patterns and use both Kufic and naskhi
scripts. The use of naskhI increases in Ayyubid decora-
tion and is applied along with Kufic to decorate archi-
tecture and other artistic objects as well. Samarran and
Byzantine styles were fully supplanted in the Ayyubid
period by Islamic decorative art forms.
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THE BAHRI MAMLUK PERIOD (1250-1382)

Cairo’s legacy of Bahri Mamluk monuments is for
the art historian a source of both delight and despair
owing to the variety of forms and patterns adopted
during this period, greater by far than that found in
later periods.

The architecture of the Bahri Mamluks is primarily
Cairene, based on the Fatimid and Ayyubid traditions
that evolved into an indigenous Cairo art without, how-
cever, ever being closed to outside inspiration.

FuncTions

The mosque of “Amr at Fustdt was the congrega-
tional mosque of the city, which means that it was the
mosque where the Friday sermon was held, first by
‘Amr himself, and subsequently by his successors, the
first governors of Egypt and spiritual heads of the
Muslim community. Of course it was not the only
mosque of the city, for there were a multitude of others
for the five daily prayers. The congregational mosque
was called masyid jam: and abreviated as jam:‘, meaning
congregational. The ordinary mosque was called
maspid, which is the origin of the word ‘‘mosque’’.
Today, this terminological distinction no longer exists.

Every medieval urban agglomeration had its own
congregational mosque. When, however, the cities and
their Muslim communities grew, the number of Friday
mosques increased. The cities of al-‘Askar and al-
Qata’i each had a Friday mosque. Al-Qahira had the
al-Azhar and al-IHakim mosques. The Fatimid Caliph,
in his position as both political and spiritual leader,
held prayer each Friday in the four mosques of ‘Amr,
Ibn Talan, al-Azhar, and al-Hakim. Under the Ayyu-
bids, the only congregational mosque of Cairo was that
of al-Hakim, no doubt because it was the largest in the
city. At Fustat, the mosque of “Amr continued to be the
city’s Friday mosque. The Mamluks increased the
number of Friday mosques, and from the time of
Sultan Hasan, madrasas and khangahs also became
simultaneously Friday mosques so that by the fifteenth
century, each quarter and sometimes even each street
had its own. The sermon delivered by the shaykh had
at that time only a spintual, and not a political,
function.

PLANS

Creswell has demonstrated definitively that the
madrasa plan called cruciform, consisting of a court-

yard with four Twans of unequal size and living units
between them, developed in Egypt. The earliest known
madrasas, those of al-Malik al-Kamil and al-Malik al-
Salih, had two iwans facing each other across a cour-
tyard, and at al-Salih’s madrasa,
duplicated. We do not know exactly how the lateral
sides were treated, but the madrasa of Sultan Qalawiin
is rather similar in plan. There, the lateral sides each
have a small room in the form of a recess, rather than
a true iwan. In later madrasas, these recesses become

this form was

larger, forming small iwans. This plan is very similar
to the ga‘a, or reception hall, of Mamluk and Ottoman
residences, the only difference being that in the classic
madrasa, the courtyard is not roofed or domed as it was
in the residential qa‘a.

Hypostyle mosques continued to be built in the Bahri
Mamluk period, but were no longer free standing. In
the setting, their plans
generally lose their regularity. For example, the main

already crowded urban
entrance is no longer on the axis of the sanctuary.

With Shajarat al-Durr, who initiated the rule of the
Bahri Mamluk sultans, it became traditional for the
founder of a religious institution to add his own
mausoleum to the building. The mausoleum dome was
built to enhance the founder’s prestige, and its location
was therefore important. Ideally a mausoleum attached
to a religious building had to be oriented to Mecca and
at the same time accessible from the street. The for-
mula succeeds at the mausoleums of Qalawun, al-Nasir
Muhammad, and all others located on the west side of
the street. Where the Mecca orientation does not coin-
cide with the street, the street orientation was given
preference.

Mausoleums were given large windows with iron
grills, where a shaykh sat and recited the Quran both
for the soul of the dead and to attract the attention and
blessings of passersby. Often, mausoleums were much
more richly decorated than the buildings they were
attached to, a good example being that of Baybars al-
Jashankir.

Facabpes

Mosques and madrasas since their earliest history
had primary schools for boys (maktab or kuitab) attached
to them, which were usually dedicated to the education
of orphans. Other boys could take private lessons with
teachers who taught in shops within the city, as the
tales of ‘“The Schoolmaster’” and ‘‘The Split-Mouth
Schoolmaster’” of the Arabian Nights tell us. Judging
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from the number of kuttabs that survived, most men in
medieval Cairo must have been literate.

By the end of the Bahri Mamluk period, an archi-
tectural device was developed for such structures. A
loggia occupying a corner with a double arch on each
side surmounted the sabil or water-house. The sabil
was another pious foundation that could be attached to
a mosque. It was a place where the thirsty passerby
could get a drink of water. A man especially employed
for that purpose would serve him behind the large sabil
window. Since the madrasa of Amir Iljay al-Yusufi, the
combination of a sabil with a kuttab became a standard
feature of the facades, always at the corner, of religious
foundations.

Bahri Mamluk facades standardize the panel-and-
recess pattern begun at the mosque of al-Salih Tala’i‘.
The recesses are crowned with stalactites and have
large rectangular lower windows with iron grills and
higher arched or double arched windows with stucco
grills and colored glass.

PorTALs

Various types of portals were used before the stalac-
tite portal became typical during the mid-fourteenth
century. The Qalawan complex has a round arch
decorated in the spandrels with interlacing stripes of
black and white marble. At the khanqih of Baybars
al-Jashankir the portal is a round arch with cushion
voussoir. At the mosques of al-Maridani and Agsun-
qur, pointed arches characterize the entrance recess.
The mosques of Ulmas (1330) and Bashtak (1336) have
a rectangular recess with dripping stalactites above the
entrance bay. The mosque of Amir Husayn has a
pointed arch with moldings radiating from a central
point above the lintel and interlacing to form the
voussoir of the arch. The northern portal of al-Nasir’s
mosque at the Citadel has a trilobed shallow recess.

Eventually, the stalactite portal composed of a half-
dome resting on stalactites predominates, and later is
used exclusively. Creswell traces its origins to Syria,

Pl. 12. The portal of the mosque of Amir Bashtak, 1336.
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where there are examples earlier than those in Egypt.
This, however, is not a definitive argument, for many
earlier buildings in Cairo that have not survived may
have had this feature. The vestibules are almost always
cross-vaulted.

MINARETS

Minaret evolution is continuous from al-Juyushi and
Abu’l-Ghadanfar toward the more slender mabkhara
type such as those of Sanjar and Sunqur al-Sa‘di where
the octagonal section above the rectangular first story
increases proportionally. The minaret of al-Maridani is
the earliest surviving example of a new type of minaret
with completely octagonal shaft and a top that is not a
mabkhara, but a pavilion of eight columns, carrying
above a crown of stalactites a pear-shaped bulb. This
top is the standard for later Mamluk minarets, and the
mabkhara top disappears in the second half of the four-
teenth century. In later minarets, the rectangular shaft
is supplanted by an octagonal first story.

Domes

Two types of dome profiles are used in the Bahn
Mamluk period, those like Baybars al-Jashankir’s that
curves near the base and are usually plain, and those
like Sanjar’s and Salar’s that begin cylindrically and
curve at a higher level and are often ribbed. Inscription
bands carved in stucco decorate the drums of Bahri
Mamluk domes.

In the domes’ interiors are two main types of tran-
sitional zones. The earlier type has several-tiered
squinches alternating with several-tiered windows and
niches; windows, squinches and niches all have the
same profile. Later, pendentives are used, first in wood
as at al-Nasir Muhammad’s Citadel mosque, then in
stone. In these, windows are arched instead of forming
a pyramidal profile with several lights. There are also
a few examples with stone squinches.

Domes are built higher, achieved primarily by in-
creasing the height of the transitional zone. Stone
domes make their first appearance under the Bahri
Mamluks, but reach the height of their beauty under
the Circassian Mamluks in the fifteenth century.

DEcoraTION

In decoration, stucco is increasingly used on the exte-
riors of minarets and domes. Facades built of stone

ahn
b

1l

Pl. 13. The prayer niche at the madrasa of Taybars attached
to al-Azhar, 1309/10 (Creswell).

have carving and also inlaid marble, especially at the
joggled lintels and in inscriptions above portals. Not
much marble survives from pre-Mamluk times, but in
the Mamluk period it was customary to panel walls
with polychrome marble (dado), and marble gradually
supplanted the stucco used in prayer niches. Panels
with marbles and stones and mother of pearl inlaid in
minute patterns characterize Bahri Mamluk wall and
prayer-niche decoration. After Qalawiin, use of square
Kufic marble inlay decoration becomes widespread.
Voussoirs of arches are generally decorated with
ablaq masonry, rather than the Fatimid style stucco
inscription bands. In addition to the pre-Islamic and
the Islamic bell-shaped capital, capitals sometimes have
carved stalactites, as at Sultan Hasan’s mosque. Stalac-
tites on minarets decorated each ring of balcony, each
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ring having a different pattern. Stalactites also adorn
the recesses of facades, but in interiors, we see them
mainly in the transitional zones of domes.

Window grills are no longer geometric, but floral
patterned and quite intricate, often including colored
glass. There are also several beautiful wooden grills.

ForEIGN INFLUENGCE IN BAHRI MAMLUK ARCHITECTURE

Architecture has always been an international craft,
and medieval architects moved to where there was most
to be built and where patronage could be expected.
Architectural styles thus reached far beyond political
frontiers.

Foreign influences on Egyptian architecture under
Islam came through several channels. The concept of
the mosque came from Medina with the Arab con-
querors, and as Islam spread, the various requirements
of mosque building developed everywhere with sub-
stantial similarities. We see at the mosque of Ibn Talan
reflections of a style created in the imperial Abbasid
capital of Samarra and imitated in Egypt at a time
when a local Islamic style had not yet crystallized. The
situation during Fatimid rule was quite different.
When Egypt became a Caliphate, Egyptian architec-
ture drew away from imitating the arts of the Abbasids.

Monks from Edessa coming as refugees from the Sal-
jaq invasion demonstrated their skills in Badr al-
Jamalr’s fortified walls. The Persian artists who
designed al-Juyushl’s and al-Afdal’s prayer niches
might have been Shi‘a sympathizers or travelers eager
to visit Fatimid Egypt. North African influences were
continuous throughout the Fatimid and Bahri Mamluk
periods. This is first seen at the mosque of al-Hakim,
the minaret of al-Juyushi, and in various ornaments. In
this case, craftsmen must have accompanied the
Fatimid conquerors to Egypt; later ones may have
visited in Egypt on their way to or from their Mecca
pilgrimage.

The Andalusian style, obvious in the Imam Shafi‘t
mausoleum, the minaret of Lajin, and several other
buildings of the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries,
could also have been brought by craftsmen on
pilgrimage, or by refugees from the Spanish Recon-
quista, when Christian dominance must have
diminished opportunities for artisans in Spain.

The mosque of al-Zahir Baybars had a huge dome,
the origins of which were in Saljiq Persia. The idea was
adopted in eastern Anatolia, close to the Ayyubid and
Mamluk sphere of power, and from there reached

Catro. According to Creswell, Syrian elements such as
the stalactite portal and ablag or striped masonry came
to Cairo in a similar manner. In the thirteenth century,
Mongol invasions pushed masses of people out of
devastated countries, and Egypt received large
numbers from Syria and Mesopotamia. Among them
were craftsmen who introduced new arts and tech-
niques. During the reign of al-Zahir Baybars,
thousands of Mongol refugees settled in Cairo.

Diplomatic exchanges often brought with them
artistic imports, such as Qalawun’s Byzantine and
Sicilian elements and, under the reign of al-Nasir
Muhammad, Persian techniques and patterns in
faience mosaic and stucco.

Battles with the Crusaders and the presence of
Crusader prisoners also played a role in the arts in
Cairo. War trophies were especially esteemed: the
dome of al-Zahir Baybars was made of captured
materials; the portal of al-Nasir came from a church,
and a number of western capitals can be seen in Cairo
buildings such as the khanqah of Baybars al-Jashan-
skir, the madrasa of Sunqur al-Sa‘di, the mosque of al-
Nasir, and the madrasa of Sultan Hasan. If they were
captured from the Crusaders, such trophies had, in
addition to their material value, a symbolic impor-
tance. Creswell detects French craftsmanship in the
iron window above (Qalawiin’s entrance that may have
been made by a Crusader artist.

Magrizi tells us that craftsmen from all over the
world came for the building of the mosque of Sultan
Hasan. Muslim and Christian Anatolian influences are
obvious in the mosque’s architecture and decoration.
Even Chinese lotus and chrysanthemum patterns
appear on its walls. The art objects Cairenes enjoyed
importing from the Far East, such as porcelain and
silks, thanks to the flourishing trade routes, brought
many objects to Cairo that inspired local craftsmen.

The madrasa of Sarghitmish and the Sultaniyya
mausoleums have double shell domes with high drums,
a style totally alien to Cairo but familiar in eastern
Islamic architecture. ‘Not only were there foreign
architects in Cairo, but the Mamluks themselves came
from Central Asia, from the Caucasus, and even
Europe. Al-Nasir Muhammad had a Chinese mamluk,
Arghiinshah, given to him as a present by the Mongol
ruler of Iran. The madrasas and khanqahs of Cairo
housed large numbers of foreign students and Sufis,
and priority was often given to foreigners. The madrasa
of Sarghitmish, for example, was frequented primarily
by foreigners.
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This series of foreign elements in Cairo architecture
by no means implies that the indigenous architecture
was poor or provincial in comparison; on the contrary,
the adapted elements made Cairo architecture cosmo-
politan and innovative. Faience mosaics applied in a
mosque no more made it Persian than a horseshoe arch
made a building Andalusian. The mosque of Sultan
Hasan is Mamluk in style in spite of importation of
craftsmen ‘‘from all over the world.”” Mamluk here
refers not to the ethnic origins of the Mamluk rulers,
but to the Cairo Mamluks, and the architectural tradi-
tions that evolved in Cairo.

That foreign influence implies the opposite of cul-
tural poverty is illustrated by Ibn Iyas, who wrote that
the Ottomans, after they conquered a country, cus-
tomarily took some of its craftsmen home, and at the
same time introduced Turkish craftsmen to the new
provinces. The prestige of a ruler was enhanced by col-
lecting and sponsoring foreign art forms. Indeed, in the
later Mamluk period, when Egypt’s foreign relations
were more limited and foreign influences no longer
played a role in the arts, innovation also diminished
and forms become comparatively static.

THE CIRCASSIAN MAMLUK PERIOD
(1382-1517)

FuncTions

At the end of the fourteenth century, which corre-
sponds to the beginning of the Circassian Mamluk
period, a change had taken place in the function of
religious institutions, the origins of which had already
started under the Bahri Mamluks. This was the draw-
ing together of various institutions into the multi-
religious complex. The madrasa-jami‘
combination has already been mentioned in connection
with Sultan Hasan. Under Sultan al-Zahir Barqlq, the
complex included a khanqah as well, thus forming a

functional

madrasa-khanqah-jami¢. Later the functions of both
the madrasa and the khangdh were reduced, so that
every Friday mosque is called a madrasa, even without
a teaching curriculum, and they all—whether called
madrasa, jami®, or khanqah—had Sufi rites, though
the Sufis no longer had to live in them. The khanqah
had lost its monastic character. Already under the
Bahri Mamluks, a madrasa commonly included Sufi
activities and the khanqah gave regular courses in
Islamic law for its mystic community.

Living units no longer formed an integral part of the
architecture of the religious complex. Rather, they
were Integrated into the commercial part of the com-
plex, as a rab®, an apartment complex for families, to be
rented to persons of different professions by the endow-
ment’s This meant that the strict
khangah and madrasa regulations were abandoned
over time, and the original function of the mosque as
a place open to all kinds of religious activities was
revived. The main difference was that a multitude,
instead of a few, congregational mosques now served
the city. The architectural consequence of this develop-
ment was the small covered mosque, instead of the
hypostyle or the cruciform plan with living units

administrator.

around the courtyard.

Architecturally less known than the khangah and the
madrasa was the zawiya. This was a religious founda-
tion of rather individual character, built by or for a
shaykh to spread a particular form of Sufism or propa-
gate a certain order (tariga). The shaykh generally ived
in the zawiya, sometimes along with disciples and visi-
tors. When he died, he might be buried in the zawiya;
when that happened, the place then became a shrine.
The zawiyas and shrines continued to be the center of
the Sufi community founded by the shaykh and were
perpetuated by his successors, who may or may not be
his descendants. The community
endowed the foundation. Sometimes rulers also con-
tributed, for several Mamluk sultans shared the
popular veneration of Sufi saints. A zawiya might thus

enlarged and

grow considerably, depending upon the importance of
its members, and be repeatedly restored and embel-
lished. For this reason, few zawiyas have retained their
original architectural features. Therefore, the zawiya of
Shaykh Zayn al-Din Yasuf is of special interest, not
only because it retained its original shape, but also
because it shows that a shaykh could build like a sultan.

In the fifteenth century, Sufi shaykhs are often men-
tioned as sponsors of zadwiyas which are also referred to
as madrasas and Friday mosques.

PLans

Two large mosques were built at the beginning of the
fifteenth century, the khanqgdh of Faraj Ibn Barqiq in
the cemetery and the madrasa-khanqah of Sultan al-
Mu’ayyad in the city. The mosque of al-Mu’ayyad is
the last mosque of this size to have been built within the
confines of the crowded capital’s walls.
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As the number of religious foundations with Friday
mosques increased, the size of the prayer hall was
reduced. Even where space was available, as in the
cemetery, or in the city center where a sultan could
always contrive to get the land he desired, the space
dedicated to the mosque proper remained quite small,
though other structures, for example the living units
attached to a religious foundation, increased in size.
Since the reign of Barsbiy, these had acquired the char-
acter of duplex apartments, each with its own latrine.

Small mosques were usually covered. While the
mosque of Barsbay in the cemetery is an oblong hall
with three aisles parallel to the prayer niche, the qa‘a
plan became common in the second half of the fifteenth
century. This is a reduced cruciform plan where the
central courtyard is small, and covered. It is paved with
marble, unlike the large open courtyards paved with
stone and sometimes planted with trees. The covered
cruciform plan resembled the reception halls, or ga‘as,
in Mamluk and Ottoman palaces. The plan of the
mosque of Barsbay was repeated in other mosques such
as the mosque of Sidi Madyan (c. 1463) and the
mosque of Janim al-Bahlawan (1478-1510). In both
cases, a wooden lantern protruding above the ceiling
provided light to the interior.

In the reign of Sultan al-Ashraf Qaytbay, several
richly decorated mosques of the ga‘a type were built.
They were often at the junction of two streets, with the
sabil-kuttab at the corner of the building. Their facades
are densely pierced with windows, as the mosques had
no open courtyards to provide light. With the ga‘a
plan, the ablution fountain is removed from the center
of the mdsque and adjoins the building outside. Also,
there is no space for the bench called the dikkat al-
muballigh in the gibla iwan; it becomes instead a
balcony or loggia in the western iwan facing the prayer
niche, reached by a staircase in the wall.

The reduced facades of the late Mamluk mosques
have no space for the large inscription band along the
upper part of the walls, common on earlier buildings;
it is applied instead along the covered courtyard above
the arches of the four twans. Moldings and keel arches,
features that characterized either exterior or courtyard
facades, are now found in the roofed central space of
the qa‘a mosque.

DoMEs

Stone domes are a characteristic feature of Mamluk
architecture in Egypt. They have no parallel elsewhere

in the Muslim world. Stone domes, judging from the
surviving evidence, seem to have begun their develop-
ment in the first half of the fourteenth century and to
have reached their zenith in the second half of the fif-
teenth century, declining soon afterward and disap-
pearing shortly after the Ottoman conquest in 1517,

According to Christel Kessler, who studied the evo-
lution of stone domes, the ribbed stone helmet of the
mabkhara-style minaret of Amir Qusan (1336) may
have furnished the idea of repeating the same pattern
on a larger scale as in a dome, since the architectural
principle is the same.

The earliest surviving stone domes are small struc-
tures and are all ribbed, except for the unidentified one
at the double mausoleum of Sanjar. The mason began
by translating into stone what he had practiced with
brick, at first without making much effort to adapt to
the new material. For example, the early domes appear
to have been coated with plaster to conceal the joints
between the stone blocks. Later, however, the mason
learned to conceal the joints in the spaces between the
ribs, making plastering no longer necessary. With time
and experience, the carving possibilities that stone
offered introduced variations on the theme of ribbing.
Instead of decorating the dome surface with rows of
convex ribs, concave and convex ribs were alternated,
a device applied earlier in the transition zone of
Bashtak’s minaret (1336) on the stepped area and later
on the transition zone of the domes of Faraj’s khanqah.

More variations followed, such as ribbing carved on
oblique lines, as at Iljay al-Yasuf’s and Aytimish al-
Bajast’s domes (1383/4). This pattern had been used
earlier to decorate columns, as at the niches on the
al-Agmar mosque facade, the minaret of Ibn Tulun
between the horseshoe arches, and at the corners of the
facade of Sultan Hasan’s mosque.

After ribbing, the zigzag, used earlier on minarets
such as that of al-Nasir Muhammad at the Citadel and
several others, became fashionable. This pattern ap-
peared on many domes, the most prominent examples
being the domes of Faraj Ibn Barquq’s khanqah. These
are the largest Mamluk stone domes in Cairo and are
only slightly smaller than the Imam Shafi‘T wooden
dome. Faraj’s domes are masterpieces of stone archi-
tecture that have elegantly resisted the effects of time.

Encouraged, the architects tried a more difficult
device, adapting a geometric star pattern, usually used
on flat surfaces, to the dome. The conch in the portal
of the mosque of Ahmad al-Mihmandar (1345) has a
star pattern on the concave surface, but this presented
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Pl. 14. The stone dome of Amir Aytimish al-Bajasi, 1383.
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no serious challenge, as the conch is quite small. On a
large dome surface, the difficulty of adjusting the
repetitive geometric star pattern to the diminishing
area toward the apex, while keeping its rules of com-
position, is obvious.

The domes of Sultan Barshay

Sultan Barsbay had four mausoleums built in his
funerary complex, of which three are still standing. His
own mausoleum, according to Kessler, appears to have
been built first, judging from the execution of the work.
The row of eight-pointed stars on the lower part of the
dome change toward the top of the dome, to seven-

Pl. 15. The domes at the religious-funerary complex of Sultan
Barsbay.

pointed, then six-pointed, stars resulting in the
appearance of a surface divided into three zones and
lacking homogeneity.

The other two domes are treated differently. The one
on the north side, that of Janibak, has a row of halves
of twelve-pointed stars radiating from the base of the
dome, and ten-pointed stars above them. The ten-
pointed stars do not exactly surmount the twelve
pointed stars; rather the two types of stars are set in a
zig-zag arrangement.

The dome on the east side of Barsbay’s mausoleum
has eight-pointed instead of twelve-pointed star halves
radiating from the base of the dome. Each star is sur-
mounted by another twelve-pointed star, and between

Ilig. 2. The star pattern on the mausoleum of Sultan
Barsbay.
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A 7 pointed Star. B 12 pointed Star. C 8 pointed Star. D
12 pointed Star.

Fig. 3. The star pattern on a mausoleum built by Barsbay.

them on each side is an eight-pointed star. The whole
surface appears homogeneous, if somewhat crowded,
because the stars are so tightly connected. Toward the
apex of the dome seven-pointed stars lead to the top. In
both these cases, there is a consistency in the star pat-
tern that is lacking in the larger, first dome. In all of
them, however, the weak point was at the apex, and the
next step in the evolution of stone domes dealt with this
problem.

The dome of Sultan Qaytbay

The Qaytbay period introduced new ideas on the
subject of dome construction. The small dome Qaytbay
had built before becoming sultan has a floral star pat-
tern, based as usual on geometric calculations. The
lower half has twelve-pointed stars and above them full

a 10 pointed Star. b 12 pointed Star.

Fig. 4. The star pattern on the mausoleum of Janibak built
by Barsbay.

eight-pointed stars, the whole executed in curves with
arabesques.

The dome on the mausoleum attached to Qaytbay’s
mosque in the cemetery shows that the designer for the
first time reversed these principles. Instead of basing
the pattern on the principle of a star applied on a
decreasing, or triangular, base to apex surface, the star
was designed for a circular surface, the center of which
is the apex of the dome. Of course, unlike a flat circular
area, the dome surface has irregularities. In this case
they met with the star pattern not near the apex, but
nearer to the base of the dome, where the lines resulting
from the central star at the apex have to be logically
continued. Thus, the design of Qaytbay’s dome is
made from a bird’s eye view: a sixteen-pointed star
centered on the apex and covering the upper half of the
dome, with the lines continued to form a row of seven-
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a 16 pointed Star. b 10 pointed Star.

Iig. 5. The star pattern on the mausoleum of Sultan
Qaythay.

pointed irregular stars surrounding it and, at the base
of the dome, halves of ten-pointed stars. To conceal the
irregularities resulting here at the middle part of the
dome, arabesque patterns fill the whole space framed
by the angular geometric lines.

This is perhaps the most beautiful carved stone dome
in Cairo, and it seems to have discouraged any imita-
tions. Afterwards, masons were content with repetitive
geometric or floral patterns, such as those seen on the
domes of Qansih Aba Sa‘id (1499), al-‘Adil Tuman-
bay (1501), Khayrbak (1502), and Qanibay (1503).

As long as brick domes were built, the transitional
zone was developed from plain to composite squinches
built on several tiers with a pyramidal layout; the result
was the formation of stalactites. In the early fourteenth
century, triangular pendentives were also used in the
transitional zone. They were first built in wood, as at
the Citadel mosque of al-Nasir Muhammad, and later

Pl. 16. Detail of a stone dome carved with arabesque, Sultan
Qaytbay, before 1474.

Pl. 17. The mausoleum of Sultan Qaytbay.
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1478-1510.

awin,

Pl. 18. The mosque of Amir Janim al-Bahl
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also 1n Early stone domes, such as the
anonymous dome added at Sanjar’s mausoleum and

the dome of Aydumur al-Bahlawan, had stone com-

stone.

posite squinches imitating brick architecture. Domes
moved toward greater height rather than greater
diameter. This was achieved by extending the transi-
tional zone, so that eventually the domes looked almost
like small towers.

On the outside, the zone of transition, instead of
being stepped at the corners, sometimes had pyramidal
structures as on minarets leading from the rectangular
to circular part. Both types are used at the funerary
complex of Sultan Barsbay, which also used a new
decorative device. Its steps are carved concave-convex
to form an undulating profile. At the dome of Qijmas
the exterior transitional zone is composed of several
superimposed pyramids.

MINARETS

The minarets of this period are slender and elegant.
They were usually octagonal in the first story and cir-
cular in the second, except in the reign of Sultan al-
Ghari when totally rectangular minarets were used for
the first time since Qalawin. At their top were double
bulbs. There are four bulbs at the funerary complex of
Sultan al-Gharl. The minarets were richly carved,
more so than ever before. The fashion of carved shafts
appeared by the end of the fourteenth century to
replace stone inlaid ablaq patterns previously used to
adorn the middle section. Craftsmen applied their most
careful work to the middle sections, creating a different
pattern on each minaret.

PoRrTALS

In the fourteenth century, the
developed from a plain conch on stalactites to more
intricate variations on the same theme, with molding

trilobe portal

and carvings framing the trilobed arch, carvings adorn-
ing the conch, pendentives used underneath the stalac-
tites, and use of various types of stalactites in different
proportions. In the fifteenth century we see a new type
of portal treatment. The portal vault is still trilobed,
but its interior is carved with groins in the shape of a
half-star. Sometimes the niches formed by the intersec-
ting groins were filled with stalactites, and often the
conch was adorned with an ablaq inlaid pattern as in

some prayer niches of this period. In the second half of
the fifteenth century, both types of portals were used
simultaneously.

Groin vaults became fashionable beginning in the
late fourteenth century; a fine example 1s found in the
vestibule of the madrasa of Iljay al-Yasufi. Other
magnificent vaults of this type can be seen in the Khan
al-Khalili at the portal of Sultan al-Gharl. Later, the
groin vault will influence the architecture of domes, as
in the squinches of the Rifa‘l zawiya of Barsbay, prob-
ably redone later, and at the two domes of Amir
Yashbak.

DECORATION

The decoration of domes and minarets in this period
consisted primarily of stone carving. It reached its
highest quality during the reign of Sultan Qaytbay and
abruptly declined thereafter.

Marble inlay was also used extensively in facade
decoration, as at the mosque of Qijmas and the sabil of
Sultan Qaytbay. Stucco decoration almost disappears,
though we see it used extensively at the Qubbat al-
Fadawiyya. There are also remains of stucco wall
decoration at the mosque of Sultan Qaytbay at Rawda.
The only area where stucco decoration shows con-
tinuity, however, is in window grills. Window grills
used as decoration evolve continuously from Ibn Tilan
to the Ottoman period. In the fifteenth century they are
no longer repetitive geometric or floral patterns; the
surface of the grill is divided into fields with inscrip-
tions, horizontal bands, and medallions with various
patterns, and filled with colored glass.

Praver NICHES

The use of marble inlay was less frequent in fifteenth-
century prayer niches. It was replaced by stone, and
the conchs are either plain, decorated with ablaq
masonry, or are carved. Marble dadoes were still used
to panel the interior walls of mosques, but a new style
of marble inlay appeared at the mosque of Aba Bakr
Ibn Muzhir. There, the marble is finely carved and
filled with red and black paste in a delicate scroll
arabesque pattern that contrasts with the fourteenth-
century geometric inlay patterns. The new style was
used until the early sixteenth century, though its qual-
ity declined compared to the examples signed by ‘Abd
al-Qadir al-Naqqash. An earlier example of such mar-
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Pl. 19. The groin-vaulted portal at the religious-funerary complex of Sultan Qaytbay.

ble inlay is found on an inscription slab on the north
wall of the sanctuary of the Maridani mosque. The
marble is carved and filled with a green gypsum paste.

ARCHES

Until the fourteenth century both round and pointed
arches were used, but in the fifteenth century the
pointed arch prevails, always framed by a voussoir of
ablaq masonry. The 1wans of cruciform mosques, with
open or covered courtyards, have pointed arches.
Inside, they are no longer vaulted but covered by a flat
wooden ceiling, richly decorated. An exception, how-
ever, is the madrasa of Amir Qanibay al-Rammah
(Amir Akhur), where a cross vault is used at the Twan
opposite the prayer niche. The qibla Iwan itself is
covered by a shallow dome on pendentives carried by
round arches.

THE OTTOMAN PERIOD (1517-1914)
THE SIXTEENTH AND SEVENTEENTH CENTURIES

The Ottoman conquest of Egypt in 1517 changed the
status of Cairo from an imperial seat to a provincial
capital. It became a city without a sultan, governed by
a viceroy called a pasha, sent from Istanbul for a
limited period. Cairo was simply a stage in the pasha’s
career. There were a multitude of Ottoman governors
between 1517 and 1798 when Napoleon conquered
Egypt. Some of them left religious buildings of interest,
but others remained only a name in a long list.
Buildings, however, were erected not only by the
pashas, but by amirs and members of the religious
establishment. The Ottoman period has left us nearly
one hundred sabil-kuttabs in various styles.

The Ottoman conquest did not radically disturb the
evolution of Cairene architecture. It introduced some
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Pl. 20. The minaret of the mosque of Amir ‘Uthman
Katkhuda.

new architectural and decorative patterns that resulted
in innovations when incorporated into the local reper-
toire.

The Ottomans built three types of mosque architec-
ture, in Cairo: buildings totally Ottoman in style,
though not necessarily in decoration, such as the
mosques of Sulayman Pasha and the mosque of Malika
Saflyya; buildings of hybrid style, such as the mosque
of Sinan Pasha, and a Mamluk style of mosque with an

Ottoman style of minaret, such as the mosques of
Mahmad Pasha and ‘Uthman Katkhuda. In place of

the Mamluk khanqah, the takipya, an institution where
Sufis lived, studied, and worshipped, appears with the
Ottomans. A new plan came with the takiyya, a cour-
tyard surrounded by cells that is independent of the

Pl. 21. Detail of 2 molding typical of the Ottoman period.

mosque. The Takiyya Sulaymaniyya and the takiyya of
Sultan Mahmud (1750) are both, however, called
““madrasa’’ in their founding inscriptions.

The dome and minaret were the most characteristic
features of Mamluk architecture, and they were both
affected by the new political situation. The mausoleum
dome nearly disappeared from religious architecture.
Governors did not stay long enough in Cairo to die
there, or at least did not plan to remain until the end
of their lives. There are, however, a few funerary
domes, that of Amir Sulayman, built shortly after the
conquest (1544), the mausoleum of Mahmud Pasha,
and the stone dome of the shrine of Athar al-Nabi
dedicated to objects attributed to the Prophet, not to a
person, built in the seventeenth century (1662). The
mosque of Yusuf al-Hin had a family mausoleum next
to it that was pulled down in the nineteenth century.
¢Abd al-Rahman Katkhuda built onto the
mosque of al-Azhar, when restoring and enlarging it,
a mausoleum for himself. In general, sponsors of

Amir

religious buildings were buried in a corner of the
mosque and not even near the gibla, as were Muham-
mad Bey Abu’l-Dhahab and Muhammad “Ali.

The tradition of domed mausoleumns for rulers was
revived again in the nineteenth century when Muham-
mad CAlf built a funerary complex for his family near
the mausoleum of Imam Shafi‘l. Later, the mother of
the Khedive Isma‘il erected the Rifa‘T mosque, which
includes other royal tombs.

When the funerary dome disappeared, the domed
mosque, which had existed in Cairo before the
Ottoman period, reappeared. It had been typical of
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Ottoman architecture, followed and developed the
Byzantine tradition. The mosque of Sinan Pasha fol-
lowed the pattern of the Fadawiyya dome, and was
later imitated by Muhammad Aba’l-Dhahab at his
mosque near al-Azhar. All these domes were built on
squinches without an exterior transitional zone. The
profiles of Ottoman domes, unlike those of the Mamluk
domes, are round and lack the exterior transitional
zone enhancing their height. With the Ottoman con-
quest, the round arch, used earlier by the Fatimids and
Bahri Mamluks, again became common.

An abrupt change is observed in minaret architec-
ture. The Mamluk shaft was replaced by the provincial
version of the pencil-shaped minaret, rather squat, with
only one balcony, and usually decorated with vertical
moldings to enhance the faceted structure of the shaft.
Ibn Iyas writes that Ottoman conquerors traditionally
took home craftsmen from conquered countries and
introduced their own craftsmen, and it must have been
in this way that the Ottoman minaret reached Cairo. In
the Egyptian hinterland, however, minarets continued
to be built in the pre-Ottoman style.

With the loss of domed mausoleum architecture and
Mamluk minarets, the art of stalactites declined in
Cairo, since the transitional zone of the funerary
domes, the balconies of minarets, and portals were the
features that best displayed Mamluk stalactite carving.

Portals of the Ottoman period were often simple

shallow trilobed recesses without a vault. When they
were vaulted, the trilobed groin-vaulted type was
usually adopted.

Mamluk-style windows continued, as did the Mam-
luk tradition of paneling interiors with polychrome
marble dadoes. The prayer niche of the mosque of
“Uthman Katkhuda, built in the early eighteenth cen-
tury, looks totally Mamluk. Turkish elements were
introduced, such as the use of Ottoman tiles with floral
patterns, as at the mosque of Agsunqur restored by
Ibrahim Agha, the sabil-kuttab of ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda, and the Sihaymi house. Their quality was
usually inferior to the tiles in Istanbul, and their
installation showed that local craftsmen did not become
familiar with the technique. Blue-green Turkish tiles
were often used to decorate the lintels of mosque
entrance doors.

An interesting evolution in this period appears in the
style of moldings and in their more extensive use. In the
Bahri Mamluk period there were two parallel lines con-
nected with circular loops placed in a few spots, usually
at the apex of arches, and they often framed portals and

Pl. 22. The sabil-kuttab of Amir ‘Abd al-Rahman Katkhuda.

arches. Later moldings show an increase in the number
of loops. In Ottoman moldings, the loops are placed at
small intervals and are angular instead of circular.
Ottoman floral elements are sometimes used in stone
and marble carvings. A prominent example is the por-
tal of the al-Azhar mosque added by ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda, with the typically Ottoman cypress tree.
The cushion voussoir of Byzantine origin, used in
the Fatimid and early Mamluk periods, also reappears
in the Ottoman period. We find it at the entrance to the
madrasa of Qalawin, rebuilt by ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda, and at an Ottoman gate of the Citadel. In
fact, Ottoman architecture in Cairo shows a revival of
several Byzantine and Anatolian patterns including the
round arch and spherical pendentive. These patterns,
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Pl. 23. The portal of the sabil-kuttab of ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda.

abandoned in the late Mamluk period, were rein-
troduced to Cairo architecture by the Turks, who had
preserved them from Byzantine heritage.

THE LaTE E1GHTEENTH CENTURY

€Abd al-Rahman Katkhuda (died 1776/7) was an
amir who made notable contributions to Cairo’s archi-
tectural heritage. He restored or rebuilt almost all the
important shrines of the city and a number of old
mosques, the most prominent one being the al-Azhar.
A certain style with several characteristic features
developed during these works of building, restoration,
and rebuilding. The use of wide round arches, some-
times scalloped, with a row of small round and lobed
arches, is seen at Katkhuda’s mosque in the Muski

quarter (1754/55) and at his zawiya at Mugharbilin
(1729). Round arches also characterize the triple facade
of his sabil on Mu‘izz street (1744).

Bands of stone carved in repetitive arabesques had
no local precedent in Cairo. Such bands frame the
double arch at the al-Azhar entrance (1753/54), the
entrance to the Taybarsiyya madrasa at al-Azhar, the
entrance of the zawiya at Mugharbilin (1754), and the
facade of ‘Abd al-Rahman’s mosque in the Muski
quarter.

The stalactites decorating the buildings of ‘Abd al-
Rahman Katkhuda show considerable improvement in
quality compared to those of the previous century. We
see this quality at the sabil-kuttab in Mu‘izz street, the

Pl. 24. The portal at al-Azhar built by ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda.,
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Pl. 25. The facade of the mosque of ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhuda near al-Muski.

balcony of the zawiya of Mugharbilin, and the portal
of the mosque he rebuilt near the madrasa of Barsbay,
known as the Jami® al-Mutahhir (1774), whose hand-
some stalactite portal, rare during this period, is signed
by the craftsman in the middle of its fluted conch. The
stalactites are carved and pierced. Another innovation
of this period is seen in the iron grills of mosque and
sabil windows. Instead of plain rectangles, they are
often more elaborate, with geometric or floral patterns.
A good example is the window at the Taybarsiyya
madrasa at al-Azhar restored by ‘Abd al-Rahman
Katkhada, and the sabils of Ruqayya Duda (1761) and
Nafisa al-Bayda (1796).

A feature characteristic of late Ottoman architecture
are the cartouches with inscriptions in nasta‘liq, later

Pl. 26. The sabil-kuttdb of Ruqayya Dada, 1761.

also rihani, scripts. They usually contain either verses
of poetry or the foundation date.

Tuae OTTrOoMAN PERIOD SABILS

Sultan Qaytbay had built a free-standing sabil-
kuttab in the city when all others of the period were
attached to the corner of a mosque. The Ottoman
period left a great number of these structures.

The sabil-kuttab of Khusraw Pasha (1535) near the
mausoleum of al-Salih Najm al-Din and opposite the
madrasa of QQalawiin is an imitation of the sabil-kuttab
of Sultan al-Ghurl that protrudes as a rectangular
building with three facades on the street, decorated
with marble inlay and joggled lintels. The upper struc-
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ture, which is the kuttab, is shaped like an arcaded
loggia, like all Mamluk sabil-kuttabs. Not far away is
the sabil-kuttab of ‘Abd al-Rahman Katkhuda occupy-
ing the corner of two intersecting streets, a landmark of
the medieval city. It also has three facades and a portal
on the eastern side. Mamluk-style marble inlay deco-
rates the spandrels of its round arches which also
include Ottoman floral patterns carved in marble. An
elaborate stalactite cornice separates the upper and
lower parts on the exterior. The windows of the sabil,
instead of being rectangular as was usual, are round-
arched like the arches including them. Their iron grills
are more elaborate than the Mamluk grills. At the
corners, flanking the windows, are engaged marble
columns carved with flutes half oblique and half verti-
cal. The kuttab on the upper floor is built entirely of
wood. The interior of the sabil is paneled with Iznik
style blue and green tiles. Some are floral, and some
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form a stylized representation of Mecca. Others carry
inscriptions.

In the course of the eighteenth century, the sabil
form developed from three angular facades into a
semicircular shape with three facets, each including a
window. The round arches on marble columns that
give a relief decoration to the facade include round-
arched windows with elaborate bronze grills, often
framed with dense moldings and loops and sometimes
including bits of blue-green Turkish tiles and Turkish
flower motifs.

ARCHITECTURE IN THE TIME OF MUHAMMAD ‘ALl

The architecture of the first half of the nineteenth
century, corresponding to the reigns of Muhammad
‘AlT and the Khedive ‘Abbas, is characterized by a style
that was totally alien to Cairo architectural traditions.
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Fig. 6. The sabil-kuttab of Sultan Mahmud, 1750 (Coste).
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Turkish architecture and decoration, already influ-
enced by Europe, was introduced into Cairo.

We no longer see stalactites, arabesques, or geo-
metric designs, nor Mamluk naskhi or thuluth script.
Instead, there are vases with acanthus-like leaves and
realistic flowers forming oval rings, applied repeti-
tively. Epigraphy is also treated differently, set in car-
touches in nasta®lig or rihani script; carved or painted
poetry passages are sometimes written in Turkish.
White marble is often combined with carved, painted
and gilded wood.

The round arch predominates and is often curved at
the springings. Window grills are made of cast bronze
and are often the most attractive feature of facade
architecture, with their elaborate, lacy openwork pat-
terns. These grills were also used for funerary
enclosures in mosques.

Funerary architecture appears again, bringing with
it the onion-shaped dome, decorated with moldings or
ribs, as at the mausoleum of the Muhammad ‘Al
family at Imam Shafi?’. The domed mausoleum
attached to the complex of Hasan Pasha Tahir has no
prototype in Cairene architecture.

Pl. 27. The sabil-kuttab of Isma‘ll Pasha, 1828.
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Pl. 28. The sabil-kuttab of Ibrahim Pasha, late nineteenth century.



CHAPTER THREE

DOMESTIC ARCHITECTURE IN CAIRO

THE PALACE

There are no remains of Fatimid or earlier palaces, and
very few Mamluk palaces have survived, none in its
entirety. However, masses of waqf documents from the
Mamluk period give us a wealth of written information
about the layout of palaces and houses during this
period. Some palaces, such as the Iwan al-Kabir, were
built with columns supporting domes. Others were
built on the qa‘a plan with two twans facing each other
and the central space covered by a dome or a lantern.
The architecture of princely city residences differed
from royal residences in the Citadel.

The principal structure of a Mamluk residence was
the qa‘a. The word originally meant courtyard, but the
ga‘a was a reception hall, either on the ground floor or
a second story. In either case, it was the highest struc-
ture in a house and occupied most of its elevation. A
central lantern protruded above roof level. The ga‘a
also must have occupied the optimal orientation of the
house, dictating arrangement of the smaller, private
rooms surrounding it on different levels.

The qa‘a arrangement is documented from the
Fatimid period. The descriptions indicate that folding
doors closed each of the two Iwans and that the central
arca was not roofed, though it most likely was protected
by tents or awnings. The central area, as in Mamluk
residences, had doors to the other rooms, to the
latrines, and to the exterior, as well as doors leading to
the mezzanine loggias overlooking the qa‘a. These are
called maghani (Mamluk) or aghani (Ottoman), sug-
gesting that they were intended for musicians entertain-
ing the audience below in the ga‘a. In the Mamluk
period, they were decorated with turned-wood screens
called mashrabiyya.

In houses excavated in Fustat, a Mesopotamian plan
was identified. A courtyard was surrounded by four
unequal Twins, the principal one having a tripartite
arrangement with the central space wider than the
lateral rooms. A fountain stood in the middle of the
courtyard. Multistoried houses also are described by
several visitors to Fustat, and these had precedents in
pre-Islamic Egypt.

Domestic architecture appears to have undergone a
development parallel to that in religious architecture,
as courtyards became reduced and roofed and lateral
iwans became mere recesses. There was, however, in
very large residences another type of courtyard that was
not the center of daily life as was the gqa‘a, but which
played the role of a vestibule.

The covered qa‘a was high with a protruding lantern
or dome, and a marble jet fountain in its center. In
Mamluk and Ottoman qa‘as, both the lantern and
fountain were octagonal in shape, and the fountain was
usually inlaid with multicolored marbles. In some halls,
water flowed from an opening in the iwan, down a mar-
ble slab called the salsabil to be collected in the basin of
the central fountain. This running water cooled the hall
in summer, aiding hot air to move upwards and escape
from the wooden lantern on the roof, and thus improv-
ing ventilation. An air shaft, the malgaf, had been used
in Egypt since Pharaonic times. This shaft was behind
the wall of the main Iwan and connected at roof level
with a sloping vent oriented to the north. The ga‘as
that survive from the Ottoman period are similar in
plan to those of the Mamluk period, though their pro-
portions are different.

FENESTRATION

The windows of great residences are described as
having iron grills surmounted by arched windows with
stucco and colored glass, as in the mosques. Iron grills
were precious and less wealthy people used wood. The
palaces of the Citadel were famous for their gilded iron
grilled windows overlooking the entire city.

The palace of Bashtak on Mu‘izz Street is described
by Maqrizi as overlooking the street through its iron
grills. Speaking of a dilapidated palace, he notes that its
marble was replaced by stone and its iron by wooden
windows. Often, the iron grills of mosque windows
were taken down and melted to provide funds to main-
tain the rest of the premises, another proof of the value
of iron. Like the mosques, residential architecture was
streets wherever

extroverted, with windows onto

possible.
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Pl. 29. Houses of Cairo (Description de I’Egypte).

INTRODUCTION

The mashrabiyya or latticework panel of turned
wood is an art typical of Cairo. The name is derived
from the mashraba, the niche made of turned wood to
hold the porous clay jugs that cool water by evapora-
tion. The advantage of mashrabiyya work is that it
filters light while increasing ventilation, and allows one
to look outside without being seen. City streets that
were very narrow made such devices necessary for ven-
tilation, and nineteenth-century illustrations show
these mashrabiyya loggias, supported by corbels,
almost touching each other over the narrow street
below. The Islamic Museum in Cairo has a multitude
of these mashrabiyya patterns on display.

As no Mamluk palace has survived complete, it is
difficult to know what their doors, or portals, were like.
The palace of Qustn, however, has a stalactite portal
that is surpassed in magnificence in Cairo only by the
portal of the mosque of Suitan Hasan. We know that
important amirs were entitled to have a loggia or
tablakhana for a ceremonial orchestra, performing
according to the amir’s rank. This tablakhana must
have resembled the loggia of a kuttab, and the amir put
his carved and painted emblems, with his name and
titles, on the exterior of the residence. Some residences
were occupied by the amirs during their lifetimes, but
not inherited by their families. Rather, they went to the
inheritor of the amir’s function, as did the royal resi-
dences at the Gitadel.

Bent entrances were used for residences, as might be
expected, leading into a courtyard. This courtyard was
not a gathering place or reception area, but a semi-
private place for the inhabitants and visitors to dis-
mount. Around the courtyard were storerooms and the
entrance to the stable. The courtyard was generally not
paved, and might have a well and trees. A residence
might have another courtyard for a garden. From the
courtyard, several doors led to the qa‘a and its apart-
ments. Important residences had more than one ga‘a.

The facade of the courtyard in extant Mamluk and
Ottoman houses has a high portal like that of contem-
porary mosques and its rich decoration is in the style
applied on exteriors rather than interiors, confirming
the character of the courtyard and the mag%d as
extroverted and connected to the street, rather than as
the center of private life.

The semi-public function of the courtyard i1s com-
plementary to the street pattern of medieval cities,
where only a few wide thoroughfares existed. The rest
were narrow winding lanes that protected the privacy
and security of the inhabitants. The small lanes had
doors that were closed at night. The entrance courtyard
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Pl. 30. The palace of Amir Bashtik at Bayn al-Qasrayn, 1334-39.

was a source of air and light, and a place where visitors
could dismount, a merchant offer his goods, and wares
be loaded and unloaded. Women would not be seen in
this semi-public area.

THE MaAQ®AD

The maq‘ad, or sitting room, common in houses of
the late Mamluk and Ottoman periods, 1s an arcaded
loggia overlooking the residence’s courtyard from the
first floor and facing the prevailing breezes from the
north. It had smaller rooms and a latrine attached.
This 1s where the master of the house sat to oversee his
stables and storerooms and receive visitors. In houses
along the Khalij or ponds, the maqad opened onto the
view of water and gardens. In the earlier Mamluk
period, the maq‘ad is described as a mezzanine loggia

built to overlook the stables of the residence. The
importance of stables in the Mamluk cavalry society
was also seen at the Citadel, where palaces overlooked
the royal stables. A houseowner’s wealth was also evi-
dent in the saddlery kept in the stable area. Later, it
appears that the maq‘ad developed into a part of the
courtyard, facing north and at the same time overlook-
ing the stables.

Domes inlaid with-colored glass over bedrooms are
often mentioned in waqf descriptions of Mamluk
houses. A fifteenth-century European traveler, Felix
Fabri, describes the house of an amir as having a me-
nagerie of wild animals and exotic birds. He stresses
the beauty of the stable’s horses and the luxurious
display of saddlery. He also mentions a prison found
within the confines of the palace and a domed tower
used as a private apartment.
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Pl. 31. Mashrabiyya window at the house of al-Razzaz.

DEecoraTION

Palaces were decorated in the same style as religious
buildings of the same period. Windows, as mentioned
before, were treated the same way. Polychrome marble
dadoes covered the lower parts of walls; stalactites and
inscriptions in painted and gilded wood were used on
the upper walls; the ceilings were painted and gilded.
Inscriptions of poetry might be found instead of
Quranic texts. At the Suhaymi house, these are
presented in cartouches in nasta‘liq script, as they are
in contemporary religious buildings. The inner portals
of Ottoman houses, trilobed and framed with heavy
moldings, recall the facade decoration of mosques and
sabils. Turkish style tiles are also found in some

Pl. 32. The portal of the palace of Amir Qusin (palace of
Yashbak), 1337.

Pl. 33. The maq‘ad at the house of al-Razziz, fifteenth-
eighteenth century.
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Pl. 34. Nineteenth century painting showing the interior of a
house (Frank Dillon).

Ottoman interiors, including the Suhaymi house, just
as they are in contemporary mosques and sabils.

Houses were furnished mainly with carpets and wall
hangings. Silk was used for summer carpets, wool in
the winter. There was no dining room; food was
brought on trays that coned be carried away after
meals. In the bedrooms, covers were stored in cases
during the day. Wooden shelves held china placed as
decoration, and the wall cupboards themselves were
decorated with inlaid work. Numbers of bronze lamps,
with inlay and openwork, and candlesticks inlaid with
gold and silver in the Mosul technique that reached
Egypt atter the Mongol invasion of Baghdad, displayed
n the Islamic Museum, give us an idea of how interiors
were lit.

Pl. 35. Wakala and rab® of Sultan al-Ghiiri at Khian al-
Khalili, 1511.

THE RaB®

A rab® is an apartment complex with living units
rented by the month. It was composed of a row of
apartments reached from a gallery on the first floor.
Each apartment was a duplex on two floors, with a
private section of roof space. The lower floor had the
latrine, a niche for water jugs, and a reception hall; the
upper floor included the sleeping area. Usually there
was no kitchen. Large houses had private rooms (harim)
and other rooms where women were not allowed, but
this degree of segregation could not be afforded in small
houses or in the units of a rab®.

A rab® was usually the structure above a row of
shops, though shop people did not necessarily inhabit
the rab® above. A rab® might also be built above a
wakala, or a khan where there might be up to four such
complexes on four sides, corresponding to the rectan-
gular plan of such buildings around a courtyard. In
general, the wakala and khan were commercial centers,
while the gaysariyya was industrial. There also, how-
ever, those working in the ground floor areas did not
necessarily inhabit the rab® above.

These dwellings were extroverted, meaning that
whenever possible windows opened onto the street,
otherwise onto the courtyard. There are rab‘s above
the wakala of Sultan al-Ghuri, not far from his religious
complex in the city, and at the wakala of Sultan Qayt-
bay near Bab al-Nasr. Remains of the khan of Sultan
al-Ghart at Khan al-Khalili suggest that it
multistoried. It is a large complex used today by
artisans. The commercial center at Jamaliyya was

was
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Pl. 36. Interior of the wakiala of Sultan al-Ghirl near al-
Azhar, 1504/5.
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Ig. 7. Ground plan of the wakala of Sultan al-Ghiri near al-
Azhar (Department of Antiquities).

crowded with such structures, many of them rebuilt in
the Ottoman period.

Housks

Between a grand residence and the rab® apartment
unit were other levels of housing, of which very little
has survived from the Ottoman period and nearly
nothing from the Mamluk. These small, or medium
sized, houses are described in their waqf documents as
following the same principles of the ga‘a complex and
the living unit of the rab®, that is, a reception hall on
the ground floor surmounted by smaller rooms on the

h\‘\f == 7’,,

Fig. 8. Detail of mashrabiyya.

upper level. In the Bahri Mamluk period, each of the
elements, hall and upper rooms, had a separate
entrance from the street, and sometimes there was a
third entrance to the stable. Later, however, it became
common to have one door into a vestibule, from where
the other doors led. The vestibule might be open to the
sky, forming a small courtyard that in the Ottoman
period included a maqfad. In Ottoman houses, the
open courtyard was more common than in Mamluk
times, probably because the city had become more
densely built and public thoroughfares more limited, so
that open courtyards became necessary for light and
air. This also explains the extensive wuse of
mashrabiyyas in Ottoman Cairo.

KiTcHENS

Whereas large residences had their own kitchen,
small houses did not. Common people bought their
food ready-cooked. It could be that the lack or high
expense of fuel, as the traveler von Harff tells us, was
the reason common people could not afford to cook at
home.

Magqriz1’s descriptions of Cairo streets mention stalls
and markets for cooked food, which in modern terms
would be regarded as small restaurants. Travelers in



DOMESTIC ARCHITEGTURE IN CAIRO 41

Fig. 9. The wakala of Dhu’l-Figar, 1673 (Coste).

Egypt have always been struck by the number of such
stalls, the medieval equivalent of “‘fast food’ outlets.
Travelers relate that cooks wandered the streets with
their stoves and utensils or settled along the pavements,
offering a large variety of foods—chicken and meat
grilled or boiled, fish and vegetables. Fried cheese is
often mentioned 1n Arabic accounts as the popular dish
of Cairenes. A German fifteenth-century traveler esti-
mated that 12,000 cooks with their portable kitchens,
as well as 48,000 bakers, provided food to Cairo’s
population, and contemporary traveler
estimated their numbers at 24,000 cooks, 48,000
bakers, and 30,000 water carriers, commenting, ‘‘Now
reckon how many people there must be to eat and drink
all this!”’

Large Ottoman houses had, apart from the usual kit-
chen, a kitchen for coffee. Coffee was introduced to

another

Egypt in the first quarter of the sixteenth century,
under Ottoman rule, and soon became the popular
beverage. Coffee houses, found in all quarters of the
city, also became places to smoke tobacco, while enter-
tainment was offered by storytellers, musicians and
singers. Coffee houses were a favorite investment for
the wealthy, and were often endowed to religious foun-
dations, even though coffee was at first banned by the
religious establishment. The coffee houses also became
the locale of narcotics smoking, hashish and opium,
particularly by Ottoman soldiers.

Baths

While large houses frequently had a kitchen, a bath-
room was less common. The fourteenth-century jurist
Ibn al-Hajj deplores the fact that people who built
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luxurious houses failed to provide a room for washing.
Magqrizi, who gives the list of Cairo’s hammims,
describes them as usually located near princely resi-
dences, implying that they were not only used by the
amir’s household, but also by the public, and were built
as a commercial investment. These were Roman-style
steamn baths, common in Egypt in pre-Islamic times. In
the Ottoman period, however, waqf documents refer
regularly to a hammam in large residences and a
mustahamm 1n smaller dwellings, which seems to have
been a small room lacking the sophistication of the
larger bath. The private hammams surviving in Cairo
are all from the Ottoman period. The Ottoman period
thus brought an obvious improvement in domestic
architecture.

Provision of private houses with hammams did not,
however, diminish the role that public baths had played
in Egypt since Roman times and whose functions were
far wider than hygiene. Their primary aspect was
social, particularly the women’s baths, which were
comparable to clubs. Women in particular enjoyed the
opportunities the hammams offered to gather, away
from their houses, and their only opportunity to go out
without their husbands. Marriages were often arranged
in the hammams where the matchmakers went to look
for potential brides. Further, a bride’s visit to the ham-
mim was an obligatory part of wedding ceremonies
and festivities. Ibn al-Hayjj criticized women’s visits to
hammams, saying they merely led women to show off
their clothes and jewelry, adding that such female
gatherings were harmful. On the other hand, in the tale
of Aba Sir and Abu Qir in the Arabian Nights, is the
comment, ‘‘Your city is not perfect unless it has a ham-
mam.’’ Ibn Khaldun wrote that hammams are a mark
of highly civilized cities, since luxury reveals wealth
and prosperity.

The hammam had not only social and hygienic, but
also medical functions, as heat was believed to cure
illnesses. Public baths were lucrative businesses and are
often mentioned in waqf documents as endowments.
They had sections for men and others for women, and
were sometimes attached to religious foundations.
When establishing a khangah in a Fatimid palace,
Salah al-Din added a bath for the use of Sufis; this sug-
gests that there had been none before. The khanqah of
Amir Shaykhd had a hammam nearby, most likely
endowed upon the foundation, as was the bath with the
complex of Sultan al-Mu’ayyad. Religious foundations
often provided the Sufis with the fee for their visits to
the hammam and for soap as well. Because of their

it

Pl. 37. The hammam of Sultan al-Mu’ayyad (Pauty).

sophisticated infrastructure, the hammams had local
continuity; new ones were always built on the site of
previous structures to make use of its infrastructure.
This often makes them difficult to date.

A traveler to Fustat in the Tulunid period gives us
the following account: He arrived at Hammam al-Rum
(the Greek Bath), very popular at the time, and found
no one to serve him, though there were at least seventy
attendants, each with three assistants, to serve cus-
tomers. He left the bath and went to another, with the
same experience. Only at the fourth bath did he find an
available attendant. He was astonished to imagine the
population of Fustit, when told that the city had 1,170
baths! This most likely was an exaggeration, though it
is also reported that Fustat’s atmosphere was highly
polluted primarily from the smoke from the multi-
tudinous bath ovens. Until the last century, Cairo’s
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hammams flourished and often impressed travelers,
scholars and orientalists. There are still a few tradi-
tional baths operating, though they have quite lost their
glamor.

The thirteenth-century physician ‘Abd al-Latif
writes that the hammams of Egypt were the best in the
Orient. He mentions their decoration, the marbles,
columns, vaults, painted ceilings, and vivid colors. The
remains of stucco stalactites, once in a Fustat ham-
mam, showing a dancer and a man seated with a cup
in hand, is displayed at the Islamic Museum in Cairo.

ARCHITECTURE OF THE HAMMAM

According to Pauty, hammams are difficult to date
as they bear no inscriptions and have been throughout
their long history often restored and remodeled. The
Egyptian hammam 1s based upon Roman bath tradi-
tion, with some modifications. In general, the tradi-

tional hammam was entered through a narrow door
like that of a shop, having no facade except for the
entrance; the rest of the building was usually behind a
row of shops. Next to the entrance was a small room for
a doorman, and the entrance was bent. The first hall,
the maslakh, for undressing, was paved with marble and
had a central fountain.

This hall was surrounded by recesses with benches
spread with carpets and mattresses. Marble columns
flanked the recesses, and latrines were nearby. The hall
was similar to a residential reception hall. The next
hall, bayi awwal (first room), was rectangular and
vaulted, with openings in the vault filled with glass to
introduce light. The hall was slightly warmed, and
included mattresses for guests to relax upon. A narrow
door led to the next room, the center of the hammam,
the bayt al-karara (hot room). Its center was enhanced by
a dome and marble inlaid floor. Here the customer got
his massage. From the hot room, corresponding to the

-
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Fig. 10. Hammam al-Tanbali (Coste).
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caldarium of Roman baths, one passed to the maghtas
(Roman laconicum) equipped with water taps in
recesses and basins for bathing. The maghtas had
warm-water basins set into the floor, usually with two
different temperatures, and this was the most highly
decorated part of the hammam. Near the maghtas was
the heating-equipment room, the bayt al-nar. Its huge
water containers were heated by fires fed by garbage
collected in the neighborhood.

The plans of Cairo’s hammams studied by Pauty
show great variations in layout, size, number of rooms,
The that Sultan al-
Mu’ayyad built near his religious complex has a
magnificent dome on stalactites, surrounded by four
unequal 1wans facing the domed area through pointed
arches, similar to a madrasa plan. While the maslakh or

and decorations. hammam

vestiary was treated with great lavishness, the rest was
more modest and reduced.
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CHAPTER FOUR

EARLY ISLAMIC ARCHITECTURE IN CAIRO

THE MOSQUE OF ‘AMR IBN AL-‘AS AT
AL-FUSTAT (641/2)

The mosque of ‘Amr, the first mosque to be built in
Egypt, was founded by the commander-in-chief of the
conquering Arab troops, ‘Amr Ibn al-As. Arab medie-
val historians call it Taj al-Jawami®, or the Crown of
the Mosques.

The mosque of ‘Amr in its present form is of no par-
ticular interest for the art historian, for its configuration
is the result of a series of enlargements, restorations and
reconstructions that include only one wall from the
medieval period, and even that is not original but a
ninth-century addition. For the historian in general
and the urban historian in particular, the mosque’s
importance today is that it indicates where ‘Amr’s
house, built near the original mosque, once stood.

Although medieval historians are usually silent on
the subject of architecture and its development, they
always mention religious foundations of special historic
or religious importance. Thus, the history of the first
mosque of Egypt is fairly well documented in their
accounts.

THE FirsT MosQUE

The mosque was founded in 641-42 as a place of
prayer for the Arab troops in their garrison city, al-
Fustat. The original building, much smaller than the
present one, measured no more than fifty by thirty
cubits, or about twenty-nine by seventeen meters. On
its northeastern side, separated from it by a lane, was
the house of “Amr and nearby, that of his son.

The original mosque was unpretentious, without a
courtyard, plaster, or decoration. Its floor was not
paved, it lacked a minaret, and the qibla or Mecca
orientation was not, as in all later mosques, indicated
by a concave niche. Creswell assumes that it must have
been built of mud brick and palm trunks, like the
Prophet’s mosque attached to his house at Medina.
This predecessor of all mosques established only
minimal requirements for those to follow. Not even the
minaret was essential, for Bilal, the Prophet’s muezzin

(mu‘adhdhin), had called the faithful to prayer from a
rooftop. Indeed, the only indispensable feature of a
mosque was its orientation toward Mecca, dictated by
Muslim prayer However, the fourteenth-
century historian Ibn Muyassar says that a convert to
Islam, the nephew of the Patriarch of Egypt, al-
Muqawqis, contributed to the design of ‘Amr’s
mosque. This implies that as far as architectural design
was concerned, the mosque could not have been an
entirely primitive building, as it was planned by a local
craftsman familiar with sophisticated architecture.

It appears that the idea of enhancing the Mecca
orientation by a concave prayer niche was not adopted
immediately by the first mosque designers. Qal-
qashandi, the fifteenth-century Egyptian historian,
writes that in the original mosque of ‘Amr, four col-

ritual.

umns were inserted on the gibla wall to point out the
Mecca orientation. The presence of four columns sug-
gests that a flat niche might have existed, composed of
two pairs of columns with an arch drawn between
them. Each of the three other walls of the mosque
included two entrances.

ADDITIONS

Only thirty-two years after the mosque’s foundation,
the growing Muslim community found it too small. It
was pulled down and replaced by a larger one that had
mats on its floors and plastered walls. Creswell’s recon-
struction shows the enlargements the mosque under-
went throughout its history.

During the expansion works in 673, the Umayyad
Caliph of Damascus, Mu‘awiya, ordered minarets to
be added to each of the four corners of the mosque.
They were reached by an outer staircase, indicating
that the mosque had no interior staircase leading to the
roof. Creswell interprets this addition as being inspired
by the prototype of the Great Mosque at Damascus.
There, where the mosque was built on the temenos or
enclosure of a Roman temple, preexisting towers at the
four corners became the minarets. The arrangement
was quite practical, allowing the adhan, or call to
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Fig. 11. Plan showing the consecutive enlargements at the mosque of ‘Amr (Creswell).

prayer, from the mosque of ‘Amr to be heard on all
sides and taken up by the other mosques of the city.
The name of the governor of Egypt who carried out the
works, Maslama Ibn Mukhallad, was written on the
minarets. Minarets were then added to all other
mosques at al-Fustat, which had formerly announced
prayer times with a ndgis, a kind of bell used by the
Copts.

The southern wall of the present mosque is attributed
by Creswell to the reconstruction by ‘Abd Allah Ibn
Tahir (827) that enlarged the mosque to its present
size. It shows the remains of windows, now walled up,
alternating with niches whose conches are carved in a
hooded shell motif. All windows and niches are flanked

with colonnettes and have round arches. The windows
have colonnettes on the outside wall as well as on the
inside. Inside the mosque, this south wall shows the
remains of the springing of arches that once ran parallel
to the gibla wall. They are joined to columns by
wooden beams carved in a late Hellenistic pattern that
is unique in Cairene medieval architecture and recalls
the cornice on the piers of the Dome of the Rock in
Jerusalem. Because of the orientation of these arch
springings, Creswell concludes that the original arcades
of the mosque were all parallel to the main wall. This
side of the mosque today has perpendicular arcades,
attributed to a nineteenth-century reconstruction of the
mosque.
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TuE PrRaYER NicHE

Several additions and restorations were made at the
mosque of “Amr, apart from the enlargements. The
original flat prayer niche was replaced by a concave
prayer niche, a device that predominated in all reli-
gious architecture from then on. Medieval historians
give different dates for this innovation. Some attribute
it to the governor Maslama Ibn Mukhallad (667-81) or
to the governor ‘Abd al-‘Aziz (684-703); others,
including Creswell, to work done in 711. In the last
case, it would be the second concave prayer niche in
Islamic architecture, coming after the one added to the
mosque of Medina by ‘Umar Ibn ‘Abd al-¢Aziz during
the reign of the Caliph al-Walid (707-709). The origin
of the concave prayer niche was of considerable interest
to medicval Arab historians, one of whom, al-Suyati,
states that it was at first avoided because it was used in
churches. Coptic craftsmen from Egypt were employed
in the works at Medina at the time the first concave
prayer niche was introduced. By the fifteenth century,
the mosque of ‘“Amr had three prayer niches.

Tne PuLpiT

‘Amr Ibn al-°As used a pulpit for the Friday sermon.
In this matter, also, the historians give different
accounts. One says that this pulpit was taken from a
church, while another says it was a gift to “Amr from
a Nubian Christian king, a wooden structure made by
a carpenter named Buqtur. The Caliph “‘Umar Ibn al-
Khattab at Medina, hearing that “Amr was preaching
from a pulpit, disliked the idea of the leader standing
above the believers, and prohibited ‘Amr from using it.
[t is reported, however, that he continued to use it after
the Caliph’s death.

The pulpit, or minbar, in time became an integral
part of the furniture of all mosques, though its use was
restricted to the jami¢, or mosque where the Friday
sermon was held. In the early period of the Islamic
empire, each city had only one congregational, or Fri-
day, mosque where the Friday sermon, or £hutba could
be preached. Subsequently, Friday mosques increased
in number until each quarter and even each street had
one. In 777, the Abbasid Caliph al-Mahdi gave orders
to lower the height of pulpits in all mosques in the
empire, and to abolish use of the magsira, an enclosure
near the prayer niche in which the ruler prayed in
private. The maqgsira seems to have originated as a
safety precaution, as more than one leader had been

murdered during prayer, and the Caliph’s decree was
not honored for long. The mosque of “Amr acquired a
maqstra in the first century after its foundation. In
1050, a wooden maqstra and wooden prayer niche
were built for summer use, indicating that the struc-
tures must have been portable and used outside the
sanctuary.

OTHER STRUCTURES

During the reign of Ibn Talan, in 870, a structure
composed of wooden columns with horizontal sticks for
awnings was added to the mosque when people com-
plained about the heat inside. This
removed by the Caliph al-Hakim, after the structure
had been painted with red and green paint that failed

feature was

to stick.

The traveler Muqaddasi, visiting the mosque of
CAmr in the tenth century, reported that the walls of the
mosque were decorated with glass mosaics. Along with
the four minarets, this would have been another feature
in common with the Great Mosque of Damascus, many
of whose exquisite glass mosaics can still be seen. In
997, by order of the Caliph al-Hakim, some of the
mosaics of ‘“Amr’s mosque were removed and the walls
were plastered. The caliph also donated a gigantic
bronze chandelier.

Among the various structures in the mosque of ‘Amr
that were common to many early mosques was the bayt
al-mal, or treasure for the needs of the community. It
was a domed structure on columns. In 989, a decora-
tive fountain was installed under the columns. A simi-
lar bayt al-mal structure can be seen today at the Great
Mosque of Damascus.

Gold and silver were used to embellish the mosque,
though this was condemned by orthodox interpreters of
Islamic tradition. In 1046-47 the Fatimid Caliph al-
Mustansir added a silver belt to the prayer niche and
silver to its columns. Under the Ikhshidids in 937 the
capitals of the mosque’s columns were gilded, and in
989-90, the Caliph al-‘Aziz ordered a gilded pulpit.

During the Fatimid period (969-1171) the mosque of
‘Amr had five minarets, four at the corners and one at
the axial entrance. Fach had a name: al-Ghurfa (or
‘Arafa), al-Kabira (the big one), al-Jadida (the new
one), al-Mustajadda (the newly made), and al-Sa‘ida
(literally, the happy one, but this could refer to a spon-
sor’s name, al-Sa‘id). All these have disappeared and
the two present minarets, one near the main entrance
and another on the southwest corner, were built by



50 THE MONUMENTS

Murad Bey who rebuilt almost entirely the mosque in
1800.

In the early history of the mosque, the roof is
reported to have been crowded with various rooms,
some for the muezzin and some for the equipment for
calculating the time for the call to prayer. The roof was
also used as an ambulatory, as ritual walks around a
sacred place were believed to bring blessings. Later,
these structures were removed. Waterwheels were used
to lift water to the roof for the mosque’s drinking water,
ablution fountains, latrines, and cleaning.

One of the most prominent restorers of the mosque
of ‘Amr was Salah al-Din al-Ayyubi (1171-93), who
restored it after the fire set in al-Fustat to repel the
Crusaders. He built a belvedere underneath one of the
minarets and removed the silver belt from the prayer
niche. The Mamluk sultans al-Zahir Baybars and al-
Mansiir Qalawin contributed to the upkeep of Egypt’s
first mosque, and after the earthquake of 1303, Amir
Salar restored the building and sponsored a stucco
prayer niche on the outer wall which disappeared only
a few years ago.

Between the restorations carried out by Sultan Qayt-
bay in the late fifteenth century and those of Murad
Bey in 1800, no interest in the mosque is reported, and
its neighborhood must have been all but abandoned
during this period. Murad Bey’s restorations were
damaged shortly afterward by Napoleon’s troops.

The mosque of ‘Amr, like all medieval mosques, was
a place not only for prayer but for important civil
gatherings as well, particularly in the early days when
the community leader’s functions were both religious
and political. Tribunals for religious and civil cases
were held in the ziyada, the enclosure between the
mosque and the street. Above all, it was a center for
teaching theology, law, and all other subjects of interest
to medieval society. At one time, more than a hundred
different classes were held, and in the Fatimid period
there were also classes for women. Imam Shafi,
founder of one of the four rites of Islamic Sunni law,
taught there in the eighth century. Recent excavations
in the prayer hall have brought to light some of the
structures referred to by Maqrizi as zawiyas, or chapels
built within the mosque for teaching, each with its own
latrine.

At this cultural and religious center, the whole
population of the city met, especially on Fridays for
prayer. It is thus not surprising that the most pres-
tigious markets were also concentrated around the
mosque, making it also the commercial center of
al-Fustat.
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THE NILOMETER AT RAWDA (861)

The Nilometer (in Arabic migyds, or measurer) at
Rawda is the oldest structure in Egypt built after the
Arab conquest that survives in its original form. Its all-
important function was to measure the annual Nile
flood in August-September, to regulate distribution of

Fig. 12. The Nilometer (Creswell).
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water and the levy of taxes paid as tribute by Egypt to
the Caliph.

The Umayyads had built a Nilometer of the simple
type used earlier in Egypt, a graduated wall in the Nile.
The Nilometer we see today was built in 861 by order
of the Abbasid Caliph al-Mutawakkil (847-61). It is a
rather sophisticated instrument, based on the principle
of communicating vessels.

The Nilometer consists of a pit on the southern tip of
Rawda Island, facing al-Fustat to the east, com-
municating with the Nile through tunnels dug on three
levels on its eastern side. The pit itself is circular at the
bottom and rectangular at the top and is lined with
stone. On its walls are four recesses with pointed
arches, flanked by colonnettes showing two types of
voussoir decoration. Creswell points out that these
arches are the same type as those used in Gothic
architecture, but they preceded the Gothic arch by four
hundred years. In the middle of the pit is a marble col-
umn squeezed between a millstone at the bottom of the
pit and a wooden beam spanning the Nilometer at the
top. The column, which has a Corinthian capital, is
graded and divided into 19 cubits (a cubit is slightly
more than half a meter).

The walls of the Nilometer have carved inscriptions
in plain Kufic, the earliest surviving example of archi-
tectural epigraphy in Egypt. They are Quranic texts
referring to water, vegetation and prosperity (Sura
XIV:37) and thus have a talismanic meaning. A his-
toric inscription referring to the founding of the Nilo-
meter by al-Mutawakkil has been removed. According
to Creswell, this was done by Ibn Tulin who restored
the Nilometer in 872-73, removing the name as part of
his campaign to assert his independence from the
Caliphate. The inscriptions were originally on a back-
ground of blue; they were themselves left in the natural
stone color. The wooden painted conical dome covering
the Nilometer is part of a modern restoration.

What the Nilometer announced was vital to rulers as
well as to the whole population of Egypt. An ideal flood
filled the Nilometer up to the sixteenth mark; nineteen
cubits meant flood catastrophe; and less than sixteen
cubits spelt drought and famine.

Throughout the medieval period and until the end of
the nineteenth century, the Rawda Nilometer was the
departure point of the greatest of Cairo’s celebrations,
Fath al-Khaly, the Festival of the Opening of the Canal.
The Khalij, starting opposite Rawda Island, bordered
the medieval city to the west and irrigated its outlying
gardens and fields. The Nile summer flood filled the

Khalij and many ponds, whose beds in winter were
green-with vegetation. During the hot summer months,
the Khalij and the ponds were filled with pleasure boats
and its shores were lined with entertainments. The
Khaljj was blocked with an earth dam and cleaned
before the flood, then opened when the Nile flood
reached the sixteen-cubit level. The caliph, and later
sultans and pashas, came out to open the Khalij and,
in celebrations lasting several days, decorated boats
crowded the waters, the most splendid of them being
the caliph’s, or sultan’s, boat. Today, the Nile sailing
houseboat called a dhahabiyya, or golden one, recalls the
splendor of the ruler’s boat. This festival, which ceased
in 1899 when the Khalij was filled in, was described by
all who witnessed it as Cairo’s most spectacular event.
Near the Nilometer was a mosque for prayers accompa-
nying the flood celebrations and a palace for banquets
held by the rulers. In the days spent waiting for the
flood, the columns of the Nilometer were annointed
with saffron and musk to induce a good water level. If
the Nile flood waters failed to reach the sixteen cubits
mark, celebrations were canceled and prayers and
fasting were held instead to ward off the coming
drought and famine. After one delayed flood, Sultan al-
Mu’ayyad (1412-21) himself took a dip in the
Nilometer as a token of gratitude.
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THE MOSQUE OF IBN TULUN (876-79)

Ibn Tilan was sent from Samarra, the Abbasid capi-
tal, as governor of Egypt, where he soon founded his
own capital, al-Qata’i‘. The new city was situated in
the area known today as Saliba street and the area
between the Citadel and Sayyida Zaynab. Nothing but
the mosque and an aqueduct has survived from Ibn
Tulan’s city.

Al-Fustat and al-‘Askar no longer had room for Ibn
Talan’s large garrisons, and the mosque of ‘Amr was
too small for the whole Muslim population of the grow-
ing capital. Ibn Tulan built a very large mosque on a
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Pl. 38. The mosque of Ibn Talin.

hill called Jabal Yashkur; today it is the oldest mosque
in Egypt in its original form.

An original inscription slab on one of the piers in the
sanctuary bears the foundation text of the mosque and
the completion date 265 (879) written in plain script,
and another is now at the Islamic Museum. Magqrizi
further indicates that the mosque was started three
years earlier in 876. The Mamluk Sultan Lajin ordered
important restorations at the mosque that were carried

out in 1296/97.

GENERAL DEScRIPTION

Architecture in the Egyptian province of the Abbasid
Caliphate followed the royal style of the Muslim
empire’s capital, and the architecture of Ibn Talan’s
mosque and most of its decorations follow the Samar-
ran style of the period.

The mosque of Ibn Tulun is built around a courtyard
with four arcaded halls (riwdyg), the largest being the
sanctuary on the gibla side. It is built of brick except
for the stone minaret, and as a novelty, its arcades are
supported by piers instead of columns. These piers are
rectangular, decorated with four masonry engaged col-
umns at the corners. Their capitals have the same bell
shape as the bases, and both are plastered and carved.
The arches of the arcades are pointed. Because piers
were used instead of columns, a feature alien to local
tradition, it has been said that the architect, a Chris-
tian, wanted to avoid having columns taken from
churches as spoils to build the mosque. The true inter-
pretation, however, is easily found at Samarra, where
this device was used because brick was the natural
building material in Mesopotamia. There are two
Byzantine-style pairs of marble columns flanking the
praver niche, the only spoils used in Ibn Talan’s
mosque.
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Pl. 39. The mosque of Ibn Talan, view of the interior.

The sanctuary, or gibla riwaq, of the mosque has five
aisles parallel to the prayer niche; the other three sides
have three aisles each. On the three minor sides, the
mosque is surrounded by an enclosed space (ziyada)
separating and protecting the mosque from the noise
and bustle of the streets. Outside the mosque on the
qibla side, there used to be a palace, the dar al-“mara,
from which Ibn Talan could enter the sanctuary
directly through a door near the prayer niche.

Both the walls of the mosque and the ziyada are
crowned with a most peculiar and intricate type of
crenellation made of open brickwork, which upon
closer inspection turns out to be a repetition of the
Samarra stucco motifs decorating the walls of the
mosque.

Pl. 40. Side arcade at the mosque of Ibn Talin.

Pl. 41. Stucco window grill at the mosque of Ibn Tulun.

Doors aND WINDOWS

The mosque has nineteen doors on three sides, each
door corresponding to another door in the ziyada.
There are three more doors on the gibla side.

The upper part of the mosque wall is pierced with
pointed-arch windows flanked with colonnettes. The
windows alternate on the outside wall with blind niches
with a shell conch, an arrangement already seen on a
wall of the mosque of ‘Amr and attributed to a ninth-
century addition. Creswell attributes only four of the
windows’ stucco grills to the Tulunid period, those with
a plain geometric design; the rest, displaying a large
variety of more complicated geometric patterns, date
from the Fatimid and Mamluk periods. There are
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altogether 128 windows and their arrangement on the
walls is independent from the arcades.so that not every
arch has a centered window. The arched windows of
the arcades fill the double function of providing light
and reducing the weight carried by the arches.

THE FounTaIn

The ablution fountain covered by a dome in the
center of the courtyard was added to the mosque in the
late thirteenth century by Sultan Lajin. Originally,
there was a fawwara in the center, a decorative fountain
with a dome on ten columns surrounded by sixteen
other columns, all made of marble and gilded. This
fountain structure had a sundial used by the muezzin
for the second call to prayer (igama), the prayer per-
formed inside the mosque. The fawwara was destroyed
by fire in 986. The present ablution fountain’s inscrip-
tion band carries the Quranic text on the duty of ablu-
tion. The domed rectangular room, open on four sides,
was built by Sultan Lajin when he restored the mosque.
The profile of its dome resembles that of al-Salih Najm
al-Din Ayytb built in 1243, with the curve beginning
at its lower part. Ablution fountains originally were not
within the mosque at all, but outside in the ziyada,
where latrines and even a clinic for treating the sick
were located.

PraYER NICHES

The mosque of Ibn Tulun has six prayer niches
dating from various periods. The main one, in the
middle of the qgibla wall, 1s also the tallest. Its stucco
molding and two stucco bosses on each side of the arch
are original. The inner decoration of the niche was
redone by Sultan Lajin; it consists of an upper decora-
tion of painted wood, a band of glass mosaics with the
text of the shahada, and a lower part made of marble
panels. This prayer niche is the only concave one; the
other five are flat. There is a small prayer niche on the
qibla wall to the left whose stalactite cresting and naskhi
script assign it to the early Mamluk period, so that it
is possible that it also was sponsored by Sultan Lajin.

On one of the piers leading from the courtyard to the
main prayer niche is to the right a prayer niche of
which only the upper Samarran style stucco decoration
has survived. A chain from which a medallion with a
star is hanging; 1t is the only decoration of its kind in
Cairo.

The style of the Kufic script of the shahada text is

similar to that of the prayer niche on the opposite side
of the aisle, with which it must be contemporary. The
latter 1s also decorated with Samarran stucco motifs
and, like the first, carries the text of the shahada with-
out the Shia reference to “Ali. It can thus be assigned
to the pre-Fatimid period, either Tulunid or Ikhshidid
(935-69). A very similar niche was fodnd in a Tulunid
house in excavations at Fustat and is now in the Islamic
Museum. The curved Kufic script differs, however,
from the original inscriptions at Ibn Tulun, resembling
more the inscriptions of the Ikhshidid period. On the
prayer niche to the right, the reference to All is carved
in small characters, like graffiti, as a later, obviously
Fatimid, addition.

The most remarkable prayer niche at the mosque of
Ibn Talan is that of al-Afdal Shahinshah, a vizier of the
Fatimid Caliph al-Mustansir (s. Pl. 6). It is lavishly
decorated in stucco and carries an inscription in ornate
Kufic script with a historic reference to the Caliph who
sponsored it. Creswell attributes the style of this prayer
niche, with its arrangement of one frame inside
another, to Persian influence. The prayer niche 1s a
replica; the original is in the Islamic Museum of Cairo.

On the left side of the aisle, opposite al-Afdal’s
prayer niche, is another, less well preserved one that is
a copy of al-Afdal’s, the only difference being that the
text refers to Sultan Lajin. The shahada also lacks the
Shi‘a reference to “Ali. This prayer niche is a copy of
much older one, a rare occurrence in Cairo’s medieval
architecture.

THE DikkA

In the sanctuary near the courtyard there is a
wooden bench on marble columns. It is called dikkat al-
muballigh and is used for Quranic recitations, chants
and calls to prayer inside the mosque (igama). Nearly all
later mosques have this feature.

TuE MINARET

The minaret of Ibn Tultn stands on the north side
of the ziyada, slightly off the axis of the main prayer
niche. It is an unusual stone structure with an outer
staircase and a Mamluk top of the type named mabkhara
by Creswell. This minaret is the subject of controversy
among Cairo’s architectural historians; it is attributed
by some, most prominently by Creswell, to Sultan
Lajin and by others to Ibn Talan. The sources do not
yield enough information to determine its date.
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We know that Ibn Tulan built a minaret with an
outer staircase, a feature found in Samarran minaret
architecture. The shape of the minaret is connected
with a legend: Ibn Talan was sitting with his officials
and absentmindedly winding a piece of parchment
around his finger. When asked by someone what the
gesture meant, he answered out of embarrassment that
he was planning the shape of his minaret. At Samarra,
surviving minarets do have the exterior staircase, but
are built of brick and are totally circular. The Ibn
Talan minaret begins as a rectangle and then becomes
circular, and is built entirely of stone.

We know also that Sultan Lajin restored the mosque
of Ibn Tultn, which at the time was abandoned but
had provided him shelter from some enemies. The top
of the minaret and the ablution fountain are in a style
unmistakably of this period (1296).

There are several arguments for attributing the
whole structure to Lajin. Apart from the minaret’s
being built in stone while the rest of the mosque is of
brick, the manner in which the bridge of the minaret
abuts on the mosque is quite awkward, blocking one of
its windows, an aesthetic mistake that would not have
been made by the Tulunid architect. The style of the
bridge, with its Andalusian horseshoe arch and corbels,
and the style of the double arches on the minaret
itself refer it to the late thirteenth century, as does
the top with its ribbed helmet. Moreover, analysis
of the masonry reveals only one type of stonework
technique.

To these arguments, it can be answered that the
traveler al-Mugaddast in the tenth century reported
that the minaret of Ibn Tulan was built in stone. The
style of the bridge and the arches on the minaret are in
fact late, of an Andalusian style that occurs in early
Mamluk architecture. The bridge is not original and
the arches on the minaret, which have no structural
function, are also not original. They must have been
part of a restoration that included a new stone facing,
together with the bridge and the top of the minaret, in
other words with Sultan Lajin’s restoration.

The fact that the minaret was built in stone does not
preclude its being original. Egyptian, unlike Mesopota-
mian, craftsmen had been building in stone since the
dawn of history, so it is not surprising that they pre-
ferred to build the minaret in stone. Moreover, being
a solid stone structure, without an Inner staircase, it is
unlikely that it could have been so shortlived. Had it
been demolished, historians certainly would have men-
tioned it, as they did the destruction of the original
fountain. Furthermore Lajin would have at least left an

inscription commemorating his construction, or his
biographers would have referred to it. Medieval
architects repeatedly restored and added to buildings,
incorporating the style of their particular period. Had
Lajin rebuilt the minaret totally, it would have been a
Mamluk minaret. The fact that the outer staircase was
left is an argument in favor of the survival of Ibn
Tualan’s original structure which was then restored by
Lajin.

The whole structure lacks the harmonious propor-
tions of a Mamluk building. The shape of the top, quite
alien to the rest of the structure, suggests that the
minaret as we now see it was not built at one time.

It is recorded that the architect made a drawing to
show Ibn Talin the plan and appearance of the
mosque, so we know that drawings were made by
architects, though none from the medieval period have
survived. Such drawings must have been particularly
necessary when local craftsmen were confronted with
having to execute a design or architectural device
alien to their experience.

RESTORATIONS

An inscription slab above the entrance of the mosque
refers to restorations done by the Fatimid vizier Badr
al-Jamali in 1177. His son, al-Afdal, sponsored the
prayer niche described above. In the Fatimid period,
the mosque of Ibn Tilian was one of the four mosques
in which the caliph led Friday prayers, the others being
the al-Azhar, al-Hakim, and ‘Amr mosques.

The restoration works of Sultan Lajin thus included
the minaret, the new ablution fountain in the court-
yard, and the wooden dome above the main prayer
niche. He also introduced teaching of the four rites of
Islamic law at the mosque, and even the teaching of
medicine. A primary school for boys, or kuttab, for
teaching writing and reading of the Quran, was
attached to the mosque. Lajin also sponsored a sabil, or
public fountain. Of these additional structures, how-
ever, only the ablution fountain and the prayer niche
dome survive.

In the thirteenth century, when the neighborhood
had fallen into decay, the mosque of Ibn Talun was
used as a caravanserai for North African pilgrims on
their way to Mecca. In the nineteenth century the
mosque was used as a factory, and later as a lunatic
asylum. During the fourteenth century, a gadi (Islamic

Jjudge) attached to the mosque added two minarets at

the corners of the main prayer hall. One of these was
removed some years ago as it was unstable.
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Pl. 42. Stucco carved soffit at the mosque of Ibn Tulan.

DEecorartioN

The decorations of Ibn Tulin’s mosque show both
the remaining influence of Byzantine rule and the
Samarran political hegemony of the time. The window
grills identified as originals by Creswell are similar to
Umayyad window grills in the great mosque of Damas-
cus, and are based on geometric compass work typical
of the late classical Byzantine tradition. The large
variety of designs in the soffits of the arches around the
courtyard, though having Samarran floral fillings, no
doubt also belong to Byzantine tradition. Creswell
notes a design here that is found as a window grill in
the mosque of Damascus.

In addition to the stucco soffits and voussoirs of the
arcades, there are rosettes decorating the outer and
inner facades. A wooden frieze with Quranic inscrip-
tions runs around the entire mosque just under the
ceiling, in the same plain Kufic script in which the
foundation slab was carved. The stucco band framing
the arches and the wood carvings on the doors are
obvious adaptations of a mixture of the Samarran
decorative styles known as Samarra B and C.

SAMARRA STYLE

The Abbasid Caliph al-Mu¢tasim first resided in the
palace of his predecessor, al-Ma’min, at Baghdad, the
capital of the Caliphate. When his soldiers, Turks
recruited from Central Asia, began molesting the city’s
population, he decided to move his residence and
founded the new city of Samarra, 110 kilometers north
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of Baghdad on the eastern bank of the Tigris. Begin-
ning his gigantic scheme in 836, al-Mu‘tasim gathered
a multitude of craftsmen from all parts of his empire,
including many from Egypt, to erect and decorate the
great buildings that suited his aspirations as emperor.
Samarra was soon abandoned, in 863, and because it
was no longer inhabited, its ruins have preserved a
great deal of the stucco carved and painted decorations
which could not be moved or plundered. They have
thus come down to us as an invaluable document of the
origins of Islamic decoration.

Just as Byzantium dominated the arts of the
Umayyads at Damascus, so Sassanian culture inspired
the works of the Abbasids. Both influences were the
result of the geographic location of each capital. In all
periods, however, Islam, which rejected animate repre-
sentations in religious art, contributed to the evolution
of abstract and floral decorative patterns. The use of
script, particularly in Quranic texts suited to the mean-
ing or dedication of an architectural structure, whether
religious or secular, was also peculiar to its building.

The building of Samarra, a huge undertaking com-
pleted within a short period of time, involved intensive
work in a new, homogeneous style adapted to the
immediate needs of the Caliph. This style is character-
ised by its abstract, symmetrical and repetitive form
based on floral and geometric elements. Its origins were
various including Central Asian influences introduced
by Turks. Samarra decorative styles are termed A, B,
and C.

Style A, the earliest, includes geometric figures filled
with floral patterns, primarily vine leaves, grapes,
palmettes and stalks. The floral patterns contrast with
the background by having their surfaces carved in small
geometric patterns of various types—zigzags, chev-
rons, roundels, and triangles.

In style B, the rosette shape dominates, and there are
no stems or stalks. This is the predominant style at the
mosque of Ibn Tulan. The floral representations are
not naturalistic, and are thus the origin of arabesque—
that is, geometrically arranged representations of
plants. Both styles A and B are derived from Sassanian
art.

Style C differs from the others in its regular use of
molds. The strong contrast effect of styles A and B is
thus lacking in this style, where hand carving is mini-
mized. The varied and primarily abstract motifs of
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Fig. 13. Carved stucco bands in the Samarra style on the
arches of the Ibn Tulin mosque.

style C are attributed by Creswell to influences intro-
duced by the Abbasid Caliphate’s contacts with Central
Asia, where they recruited soldiers for their armies.

The method of using molds, in style G, to which only
small touches needed to be made by hand, was time
and labor saving and thus quite appropriate for the
construction and decoration of the new city. The
stuccos were painted in vivid colors.

The Samarran style, like any other Islamic style of
architectural decoration, was not confined to religious
architecture but was adopted in secular architecture as
well. Many excavated houses of the Tulunid period
have Samarra-style stucco panels.
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CHAPTER FIVE

ARCHITECTURE OF THE FATIMID PERIOD

THE AL-AZHAR MOSQUE (970)

Al-Azhar is today the most celebrated of all Cairo’s
medieval mosques, more because of its historic and reli-
gious importance than its aesthetic value. It was the
first mosque built in Fatimid Cairo and the first
theclogical college, and has played a continuous role in
the history of the city from its foundation to the present
day. The mosque of ‘Amr, though important as
Islam’s first mosque in Egypt, did not retain its role
though the centuries.

Like the mosque of ‘Amr, al-Azhar was established
as the central mosque of a new urban foundation. It
does not carry the name of its founder, the Fatimid
Caliph al-Mu‘izz. Al-Azhar is an epithet meaning
““The Flourishing’’.
simply the Great Mosque (jam:<) of Cairo.

Caliph al-Muzz 1i-Din Allah, after conquering

Some medieval sources call 1t

Egypt and founding al-Qahira, assigned his general
and vizier Jawhar al-Siqilll the task of building al-
Azhar. The first prayers were held in the mosque in
972, and in 989 it acquired the status of a college with
the appointment of thirty-five scholars to teach the
[sma‘ili Shi‘a theology to which the Fatimids adhered.
A hostel was built for them near the mosque.

Following the mosques of ‘Amr, al-‘Askar, and Ibn
Talan, al-Azhar was the fourth congregational mosque
in Egypt. After the Ottoman conquest, when the
Mamluk colleges (madrasa) were in decline, al-Azhar
became the center of Islamic scholarship in Egypt and
one of the principal theological universities of the
Muslim world.

Because of its importance, the mosque of al-Azhar,
like the mosque of “Amr, has undergone a series of
enlargements and restorations throughout its history.
Today, all styles and all periods of Cairo’s history are
represented 1n its architecture.

The original mosque of al-Azhar was much smaller
than the present building, and it was not at the exact
center of the capital. Al-Qahira itself did not occupy
much more than one square kilometer. The great Fati-
mid palace complex dominated the entire city. Al-
Azhar is at a short distance from what was the main

The al-Azhar mosque and its dependencies

Fig. 14. Plan of the al-Azhar mosque (Creswell).

avenue, Bayn al-Qasrayn (lit., ‘‘between the two
palaces’’).

ThE OrcINAL MOSQUE

As reconstructed by Creswell, the mosque origi-
nally had only three arcades around the courtyard;
today it has four. This plan was common in North
African and Andalusian architecture. The arcades are
all carried on pre-Islamic columns with Corinthian
capitals. Its original arches are round. The sanctuary
had five aisles parallel to the qgibla and a transept with
an aisle wider and higher than the rest that runs
perpendicular to the main wall, thus enhancing the
prayer niche to which it leads from the court-
yard to the prayer niche.
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Pl. 43. The al-Azhar mosque.

There were three domes, one over the prayer niche
and the two others at the corners of the gibla wall, but
none has survived. This feature of three domes in the
sanctuary was also found in North African architecture
and must have been introduced to Egypt by Fatimid
craftsmen. The two other arcades had only three aisles
each. The mosque is said to have had a ziyada.

Theé original minaret was a small construction stand-
ing above the main entrance and built of brick.

Of the original mosque the arcades, part of the stucco
decoration, including the conch of the prayer niche and
a few window grills have been preserved.

FATiMID ADDITIONS

In 1009 the Caliph al-Hakim restored the mosque,
donating a new wooden door which is now in the Cairo
Islamic Museum. In 1125, the Caliph al-Amir donated
a wooden prayer niche, now also at the museum. The

most important Fatimid works, however, were carried
out during the rule of the Caliph al-Hafiz li-Din Allah
(1129-49), who added an arcade around the courtyard
to give the mosque four arcades, the fourth composed
of only one aisle on the northwestern side. The arches
of this new courtyard facade differ from the original
arches. They are called keel arches, as their profile
resembles a ship’s keel pointing upwards. Al-Hafiz also
added a dome in front of the transept. It is hidden to
the viewer from the courtyard by a screen wall
(pishtdg)—a portion of the facade wall taller than the
rest which is meant to enhance the entrance to the sanc-
tuary through the transept. This dome is richly
decorated in carved stucco.

FatiMip DEcORATION

Original decorations include the conch of the prayer
niche and the stucco inscriptions and arabesques on the
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Pl. 44. The original prayer niche of al-Azhar with Mamluk
stucco carving in the spandrels.

arcades. The conch of the prayer niche is decorated in
a style very similar to that of the two unidentified
prayer niches at the mosque of Ibn Tulin, which could
be either Tulunid or Ikhshidid. This decoration is not
in pure Samarra style, but is combined with the scrolls
of palmettes typical of Byzantine decoration. Slightly
ornate curved Kufic script frames the various arches of
the prayer niche, windows, arcades and panels.

It appears that different periods of Fatimid decora-
tion are represented in the stuccos of al-Azhar, but
scholars have not yet sorted them out. On the wall fac-
ing the prayer niche, a naturalistic representation of a
palm tree is repeated. Windows with geometric grills
framed with bands of Kufic inscriptions appear tec date
from the foundation of the mosque. The stucco decora-

tions added by al-Hafiz adorning the walls and the
dome are quite different from the original style, which
1s not surprising, as they were done more than a cen-
tury later. The dome in front of the transept is
decorated with a ring composed of lobed arches poin-
ting toward the center. These arches carry ornate
inscription bands. Interestingly, one of the stucco grills
of the transitional zone of the dome of al-Hafiz includes
bits of green and yellow glass, the earliest known exam-
ple of such a window decoration. This late-period
Fatimid decoration shows a more ornate type of Kufic
script and more composition in surface designs, involv-
ing less repetition of patterns.

AYYUBID AND MAMLUK RESTORATIONS

Salah al-Din, who followed the Shafii rite in which
only one congregational or Friday mosque within an
urban agglomeration is allowed, cancelled Friday
prayers at al-Azhar and permitted them only at the
mosque of al-Hakim, which he no doubt preferred
because of its larger size. He also removed the Fatimid
silver belt from the prayer niche. The mosque of ‘Amr
continued to al-Fustat’s
mosque during Salah al-Din’s reign.

Under the Mamluks, the Hanafl rite had priority,
and Sultan al-Zahir Baybars reestablished the Friday
sermon at al-Azhar in 1266. He also replaced the
minaret at the entrance with a higher one, and carried
out other restorations.

The 1303 earthquake, significant in Cairo’s architec-
tural history because of the restorations of monuments
that followed, also damaged al-Azhar. Amir Salar
restored the prayer niche and redecorated its spandrels.
It was he who also added a beautiful prayer niche on
the exterior wall of the mosque of “Amr, which we now
know only from early photographs. Both of Salar’s
prayer niches are decorated in the same style, with a
row of niches filled with stucco geometrical ornaments
and surmounted by delicate arabesques, a device we
see also at the smaller Lajin prayer niche at Ibn Tulan.

Sultan Barqiq found al-Azhar’s minaret too short,
and in 1397 replaced it with a taller one in stone. Its
structure, however, was defective, and it had to be

serve as congregational

destroyed a few years later. Sultan al-Mu’ayyad built
another minaret in the same place in 1424, but it also
leaned and had to be removed. Sultan Qaytbay, whose
architects were more skillful, ordered several restora-
tions at al-Azhar, in 1468, 1476, and 1495. Among
these were the main portal and the minaret above it,
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Pl. 45. Stucco panels on the western wall of the sanctuary at
al-Azhar.

both fine examples of the golden age of stone carving
that characterizes Qaytbay’s architecture. Sultan al-
Ghiri built a huge minaret in 1510, also near the main
entrance. [t has a double bulb and its shaft is decorated
with pieces of blue faience.

In addition to restorations of individual structures,
new buildings were added regularly to al-Azhar, for
example the three madrasas of the Mamluk period.
The madrasa of Taybars on the right side of the main
entrance has not survived in its original architectural
form, but it has a magnificent prayer niche with carved
and inlaid marble, one of the finest in Cairo, with
representations of trees in mosaics in the spandrels.

The madrasa of Amir Agbugha, built in 1340 on the
left side of the entrance, has its original portal, a mina-
ret, and gibla wall decoration, including glass mosaics
in the prayer niche and window recesses, where a vase

and stylized plant motif is repeated. Both these madra-
sas are on the site of a former ziyada of the mosque.

The madrasa of Jawhar al-Qanqaba’3, built in 1440
on the northern side of the sanctuary, 1s fully preserved
in its original architectural form, along with its decora-
tions and a carved stone dome covering the mausoleum
of the founder.

OTTOMAN RESTORATIONS

In the Ottoman period, a long series of restorations
and enlargements were made at al-Azhar. The most
important of these was Amir ‘Abd al-Rahméin
Katkhuda’s enlargement in 1753, when the area of the
mosque behind the original prayer niche was widened.
He added a new facade, the one we see today, with its
double round arches and the typical Ottoman cypress
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Pl. 46. The dome of the Caliph al-Hafiz 1i-Din Allah at
al-Azhar.

tree carved above them. He also had three minarets
built, two of which have survived on the southern and
eastern walls. On the southern facade, he added a por-
tal similar to the Gothic portal of al-Nasir Muham-
mad’s madrasa at the Nahhasin mosque. He rebuilt the
facade of the Taybarsiyya and erected for himself a
mausoleum dome on the southeastern corner of the
enlarged mosque. Still more additions and restorations
were carried out in the nineteenth and twentieth cen-
turies.

MINOR STRUCTURES

Over the centuries, al-Azhar acquired several
magqstras, one of them built by the founder Jawhar,

and more than one prayer niche. There was a talisman

to prevent birds from nesting in the mosque. Water-
wheels served the fountains and latrines with water
stored in cisterns.

There was a kitchen attached to the mosques where
meals were prepared that were provided by charitable
donations. At one time a large number of poor people
were attached to the mosque and lived there on an
almost regular basis. In 1415 a count was made of 750
such people, representing all the provinces of Egypt,
along with foreigners. Orders were given to expel them
from the mosque along with all their furniture and
effects, as it was reported that forbidden things were
going on in the mosque. Later, however, al-Azhar was
surrounded by living quarters for a multitude of
students and poor visitors.

Like the mosque of ‘Amr at al-Fustat, al-Azhar at al-
Qahira led the calls to prayer to be followed by the
other mosques. It therefore had a number of sundials
and a number of astronomers serving the mosque for
the calculation of prayer times.

INsTRUGTION

Al-Azhar has been famous above all as a teaching
center for Muslim theology. This tradition was begun
soon after its foundation, with the teaching of Shi‘a
theology. Salah al-Din’s overthrow of the Fatimids led
to the abolition of Shi‘a teaching in Egypt, and Sultan
al-Zahir Baybars introduced ShafiT teaching when he
restored the mosque. Later, Sultan Hasan added the
Hanafi rite, and eventually, all four rites were rep-
resented at al-Azhar.

During the Mamluk period, many madrasas in
Cairo taught law and theology, but their decline after
the Ottoman conquest raised the status of al-Azhar to
its role of primary seat of Muslim learning in Egypt.
Under the Ottomans (1517-1914), who, like the
Mamluks before them, adhered to the Hanalfl rite, the
head of al-Azhar nonetheless remained a Shafi‘l
scholar, in common with the majority of the Egyptian
population. In the Ottoman period, students came
from all parts of the Ottoman Empire and the rest of
the Muslim world to study at al-Azhar. The rulers and
members of the ruling establishment were generous in
endowing al-Azhar. Several kuttabs, primary schools
for boys, were also attached to the mosque.

Today, Cairo’s al-Azhar University is a modern
university where all topics are taught. It is housed in
buildings in the vicinity of the mosque.
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THE MOSQUE OF CALIPH AL-HAKIM BI
AMR ALLAH (990-1003)

The circumstances in which the mosque of Caliph al-
Hakim was built are rather unusual. It was founded in
990 by the Caliph al-“Aziz, al-Hakim'’s father, and a
year later the first prayer was celebrated there,
although the building was still incomplete. There is
nothing unusual about this. The direction of Mecca
dictates the orientation of every mosque, so the sanc-
tuary is generally built first, followed by the rest of the
structure. However, it was not until twelve years later,
in 1002-3, that the Caliph al-Hakim is reported to have
ordered completion of the mosque. The inscription on
the southern minaret carries his name and the date
393/1003. In 1010 important alterations were made to
the minarets, and in 1013 the furniture of the mosque
was added and prayers again inaugurated.

Originally, the mosque stood outside the city walls of
Jawhar. When Badr al-Jamali later rebuilt the walls in
stone, he enlarged them slightly so as to include the
mosque of al-Hakim within the confines of the city, and
the northern wall of the mosque was incorporated in the

city’s wall. Like al-Azhar, this mosque has a epithet, al-
Anwar, ‘‘the Illuminated’’.

The mosque of al-Hakim suffered much throughout
its history, in the 1303 earthquake and later.
Nineteenth-century artists show it in an advanced state
of ruin. It was recently restored.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The mosque is an irregular rectangle with four
arcades surrounding a courtyard, and its architecture
combines features of both the Ibn Tulan and al-Azhar
mosques. Like Ibn Tdlun’s mosque it has pointed
arches supported by rectangular brick piers, but the
arcades are higher and the mosque is smaller than Ibn
Talan’s, giving the whole a more vertical appearance.
Like al-Azhar, it has a transept crossing the prayer hall
perpendicularly and three domes at the qibla wall, one
over the prayer niche and two at the corners. The new
features are the building of two minarets protruding at
the facade corners of the mosque, and the monumental
portal. The whole facade configuration is inspired by
that of the mosque in Mahdiyya (Tunisia), the Fatimid
capital in North Africa. The facade and the minarets
are built in stone; the rest is of brick.

THeE MINARETS

Magqrizi, the fifteenth-century historian, writes that
in 1010, alterations were made to the minarets of al-
Hakim, adding to them two arkan (sing. rukn, ‘‘cor-
ner’’), 100 cubits (about 60 meters) high. These are the

Fig. 15.

Reconstruction of the mosque of al-Hakim
(Creswell).

Pl. 47. The mosque of al-Hakim.
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two minaret structures we see today; they resemble
propylons of an ancient Egyptian temple, wrapping the
original minarets.

Creswell misinterprets the 100 cubits indicated by
Magqrizi as referring to the circumference of the cubes.
But the word falan means ‘‘in height’’ as opposed to
‘ardan ‘‘in width,”’ even if Maqrizi’s 100 cubits is an
exaggeration. The cubes originally must have totally
hidden the original minarets except perhaps the very
tops.

Al-Hakim is presented by medieval historians as the
most eccentric and whimsical man who ever ruled
Egypt. He is popularly known for having forbidden the
preparation of mulukhiyya, the favorite meal of the
Egyptians. In architectural matters, he was certainly
not always pragmatic. He demolished a belvedere built
by his father and ordered it to be plundered. He also
more than once tore down and rebuilt the mosque of
Rashida at Fustat. The possibility cannot be excluded
that he disliked the minarets built by his father and
therefore decided to hide them behind the cubes. The
mosque was in use long before al-Hakim carried out his
alterations. The fact that the original minarets were
only hidden, not pulled down, may have been the
architect’s device to preserve these two masterpieces of
stonework, which are unparalleled in Cairo’s minaret
architecture.

THE OuTER MINARETS

The two square minarets of al-Hakim are not iden-
tical. The southern minaret has a lower band of foliated
Kufic inscriptions carved in stone. At roof level, it is
adorned with crenellations very similar to those at Ibn
Talin’s mosque, the only surviving imitation of this
remarkable and intricate type of cresting. It is possible
that the mosque, so largely inspired by that of Ibn
Talun, had more of these crenellations, destroyed in
the 1303 earthquake, which severely damaged the
mosque. The upper story is adorned at its top with a
band of interlaced geometrics in stucco similar to those
that crown Fatimid prayer niches.

The northern cube’s lower part was incorporated
into the masonry of Badr al-Jamali’s wall adjoining the
mosque. The upper story’s eastern side has a band of
Mamluk naskhi script of Quranic text which must be
attributed to Amir Baybars al-Jashankir, who restored
the mosque after the earthquake. Both mabkhara style
minaret are also attributed to Baybars al-
Jashankir, and do not quite fit with the rest of the struc-

tops

Pl. 48. Crenellation on the outer southwestern minaret of
al-Hakim.

ture. They are similar, but not identical, and are of
light brick construction replacing the originals toppled
by the earthquake.

Tue OriGINAL MINARETS

Inside the cubes, the original minarets of al-Hakim’s
mosque were found well preserved in their wrappings
when discovered in modern times. As the space
between the inner and outer structures is rather small,
the best way to admire these original minarets is to look
at Creswell’s photographs and drawings.

Pl. 49. Detail of the inner southwestern minaret of the
mosque of al-Hakim (Creswell).
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The two towers are differ from each other in shape
and decoration. The southern shaft begins as a rec-
tangle that turns octagonal above the roof level, while
the northern tower is a tapering cylinder which
Creswell compares to a stethoscope, standing on a rec-
tangular base. The northern minaret is decorated with
horizontal carved bands and with lozenges, and its win-
dows are decorated with carved frames. Its decoration
is similar to that of the minaret of Sfax in Tunisia.

The southern minaret’s decoration resembles that of
the entrance, with a large band of Kufic inscriptions
carrying al-Hakim’s name and the date. It also has a
band of alternating rectangles, one protruding and the
next receding, the first example of a pattern that
appears later at the mosque of al-Salih Tala’i¢ and the
mausoleum of al-Salih Najm al-Din. At the level of the
roof there is a small room inside this minaret with
carved niches, a carved ceiling, and carved entrance. It
1s possible that the roof of the mosque was used for
some religious purpose. So was the roof of the mosque
of “Amr, as it once had a small brick prayer niche. Tt
was photographed by Creswell before it disappeared.

DEecoraTiON

As in al-Azhar, but unlike the mosque of Ibn Tulan,
the windows of the al-Hakim mosque are set in such a
way that they correspond to the position of the arcades,
so that there is a window on the axis of each arch.

Only a few of the original window grills have sur-
vived. Among these is a window with a stucco grill
made of elongated Kufic letters forming the word
‘“Allah,’’ repeated symmetrically from right to left and
left to right, as if reflected in a mirror. This style, which
is North African but of later date, may have been done
in a later Ayyubid or early Mamluk restoration.

The inscriptions of Ibn Tilin are on a wooden frieze
running along the arcades, hardly visible beneath the
ceiling, but al-Hakim’s mosque, like al-Azhar, has a
stucco band running along the arches of the mosque
with ornate Kufic inscriptions of Quranic texts. In the
transept stucco panels show a stylized tree motif of
mixed Byzantine and Samarran style. The wooden
beams between the arches are carved with Samarran
patterns. The original decoration of the prayer niche
has not survived.

The mosque of al-Hakim had a ziyada added later.
It was begun by the Caliph al-Zahir (1021-36) and
completed by Sultan al-Salih Najm al-Din at the end of
the Ayyubid period (1240-49), and by Sultan al-Mu‘izz
Aybak (1250-57) at the beginning of the Mamluk

period. This ziyada, on the southern side of the
mosque, has an entrance which Creswell assigns to the
late eleventh century.

LATER ADDITIONS

At the time of the restorations carried out by Amir
Baybars al-Jashankir in 1303, teaching of the four rites
of Islamic law was introduced at al-Hakim, along with
a kuttab for boys.

The mosque was restored in 1360 by Sultan Hasan,
and in the fifteenth century a merchant added a
minaret to the sanctuary which is no longer extant. In
the nineteenth century it was restored by Shaykh
‘Umar Makram, who added a prayer niche inlaid with
marble. The first Islamic Museum was housed in the
mosque at the end of the nineteenth century.

Descriptions of the Caliph’s Friday sermons at al-
Hakim have survived. The Caliph arrived riding under
a golden umbrella, wearing white silk and holding a
scepter. Five thousand guards and an orchestra accom-
panied the procession. The Caliph entered the mosque
from an entrance near the pulpit, his ministers carrying
carpets and curtains to spread before him. In front of
the mihrab were carpets, and curtains with Quranic
inscriptions hung on both sides of the prayer niche. The
Chief Qad1 perfumed the pulpit with incense as the
Caliph arrived accompanied by drums and horns and
greeted his officials gathered around the magqsiira in
order of protocol. He rose to the pulpit and his vizier
kissed his hands and feet while standing on a lower
step, and closed the curtains, hiding the Caliph’s face,
at the top of the pulpit, which resembled a litter topped
by a dome. The Chief Qadi stood at the foot of the
pulpit while the Caliph read a short sermon prepared
by the office of protocol. The Caliph recounted his
ancestors descending from the Prophet’s daughter
Fatima, one by one. The vizier then opened the cur-
tains and backed down the steps, and the Caliph stood
on the silk rugs of the prayer niche to lead the prayer,
his officials arranged behind him in proper order. Some
stood round the maqsura with their backs to the qibla,
as security guards. Trumpets and drums accompanied
the procession back to the palace.
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Pl. 50. The mashhad of al-Juyiishi.

THE MASHHAD OF AL-JUYUSHI (1085)

On top of the Muqattam hill, overlooking the
cemetery of the city, the city itself, and its environs,
stands a small mosque. It is known as the mosque of al-
Juyashi, after the title of its sponsor, Amir al-Juyush
(Chief of the Armies), the Armenian vizier of the
Fatimid Caliph al-Mustansir (1036-1094), Badr al-
Jamali. The mosque has a foundation inscription above
its entrance identifying it as a mashhad, or shrine. In
whose memory was it founded? Neither the inscriptions
of the mashhad nor the historians tell us.

While Farid Shafi‘c interprets the mashhad al-
Juyushi as a watchtower disguised as a mosque, Grabar
sees it as a memorial to the victories of Badr al-Jamal
over the rebellions and disorders that had long plagued
the Fatimid Empire. A small domed chamber project-
ing on the northern side of the sanctuary could have
been intended as a mausoleum, but the mashhad is not
the tomb of Badr al-Jamali, who according to Magrizi
was buried outside Bab al-Nasr. There is indeed a
Fatimid mausoleum there, marked on the map of the
Description de [’Egypte as the ‘‘chapel of Shaykh Badr,”’
which would have been the popular version of al-
Jamali’s name. A street in the same area is called
Shaykh Najm, and Abu’l-Najm was one of the
honorific titles of Badr al-Jamali.

The building is the most complete mashhad that has
survived from the Fatimid period, probably because it
was not dedicated to a person of religious importance,
and therefore was not the center of a cult, which would
have subjected it to restorations and embellishments by

the cult’s followers. In the Ottoman period, the mosque
of al-Juytshi was used by dervishes as a monastery.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The small structure is built around a courtyard. One
enters it from a plain door without a portal, underneath
the minaret situated on the axis of the prayer hall. On
the lateral sides and on both sides of the minaret are
rooms. The facade of the courtyard is composed of a

Fig. 16. The mashhad of al-Juyushi, plan and elevation
(Creswell).
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large keel arch supported by two pairs of columns and
flanked by two smaller arches, giving the facade the
tripartite composition frequently found in Fatimid
architecture. The prayer hall itself is roofed with cross-
vaults except for the bay above the prayer niche, which
i1s crowned by a dome on plain squinches. A small
domed room on the northeastern side of the sanctuary,
projecting outside, was thought by Creswell to be a
later addition, but Farid ShafiT’s investigation of the
masonry showed that it is part of the original construc-
tion.

The prayer niche of this mashhad is lavishly deco-
rated with stucco carving in the spandrels of the niche
arch. The conch itself has eighteenth-century Ottoman
painting that covers other parts of the sanctuary as
well. The decoration of the Juyushi prayer niche was
compared by Creswell to Persian stuccoes. The prayer
niche at the mosque of Ibn Taliin added by al-Afdal
Shahinshah, son of Badr al-Jamali, also resembles Per-
sian prayer niches in composition and decoration.

The dome’s interior is decorated with stucco carving
and at the summit is a medallion with the names of
Muhammad and ‘Ali; on the square part of the dome
an inscription band carries a Quranic text.

THE MINARET

The minaret is a rectangular shaft with a second,
receding story topped by a dome similar to the one
above the prayer niche. The shape of the minaret is
reminiscent of the minaret at the great mosque of
Qayrawan in Tunisia, erected in the ninth century. A
very special feature of this minaret is the stalactite
cornice on the upper edge of the rectangular shaft. It is
the earliest surviving example of stalactites on a
building in Egypt.

Stalactites or mugarnas are honeycomb-like carvings
in stone or stucco in which a multitude of small
embedded niches are repeated in an intricate geometric
arrangement. Muqarnas are characteristic of Islamic
architecture; they are found almost everywhere in the
medieval [slamic world, and nowhere outside the realm
of Islam. When and were muqarnas was invented has
not yet been determined by art historians or
archaeologists, though east Iran seems to be the most
likely place.

Another interesting feature of the al-Juytashl mosque
is the presence of two small domed structures on the
roof, like small kiosks, less than one meter in width,
with prayer niches carved on their southeastern sides.

These kiosks, and the presence of a minaret in such a
remote place, prompted Farid Shafil to intepret the
Juyushl mosque as a watchtower disguised in the shape
of a mosque; the small domed structures were for
guards. Badr al-Jamali was commander of the armies,
and a successful one, who built the fortifications of
Cairo whose surviving three gates and parts of the city
walls are testimony to the power of their sponsors. A
watchtower on the Muqattam hill, according to Shafi‘i,
would have served to give early warning of any suspect
movements from outside the country or from within,
such as the rebellion from the south that al-Jamali had
to suppress. However, one may question why a watch-
tower should be disguised. The presence of the prayer
niches in the domed structures on the roof suggests that
these small rooms were intended for the meditation and
seclusion the location of the mosque obviously pro-
vided. Grabar’s interpretation, supported by Ragib, 1s
that it commemorates Badr al-Jamall’s military
achievements. Ragib sees the building as part of the
group of shrines built by the Fatimids in the cemetery.

During the vizirate of al-Afdal, son of Badr al-
Jamali, the observatory which used to be at another
place on the Mugqattam further to the south was
transferred to the neighborhood of the Juyushi mosque,
because it was thought to be more appropriate for
astronomic observations.
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THE WALLS AND GATES OF BADR
AL-JAMALI (1087-92)

When it was founded by al-Mu‘izz and his general
Jawhar al-Siqilli, the city of al-Qahira was surrounded
by brick walls with several gates on each side of the rec-
tangle. Later, Badr al-Jamali, vizier of the Caliph al-
Mustansir and Amir al-Juyish (commander of the
armies), replaced these walls with walls of stone. The
new enclosure was only slightly larger than the first,
and most of the new gates carried the names of those
they replaced.
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Substantial portions of these walls on the northern
side of the city and the gates, Bab al-Futoh and Bab
al-Nasr, have survived. On the south side are remains
of the walls and the gate called Bab Zuwayla. None of
the several other city gates has survived, but Maqriz1’s
accounts show us that they were Badr al-Jamali’s out-
standing achievements. The gates and walls of Badr al-
Jamali are considered masterpieces of stone architec-
ture. Many pharaonic temples were destroyed to con-
struct them, and we can see large blocks of stone
bearing pharaonic inscriptions and motifs. Marble, cut
stone, and wood were always expensive materials in
Egypt; quarrying old monuments for building
materials is as old as the Old Kingdom, and still goes
on today.

Badr al-Jamali’s walls are built on three levels. The
street level, including the vestibules or entrance halls of
the gates, was originally higher than the street, and the
gates were reached by ramps. Between the stone
blocks, horizontally set columns were used to consoli-
date the masonry in the lower part of the walls. The
second level consists of galleries connected with vaulted
rooms and halls with arrow slits on the outside and
larger openings on the city side. These run along the
entirety of the walls except at the junctures of the gates.
The gates are solid up to the level of two-thirds of their
height, and thus block the passage from one section to
the other, for the sake of better defense.

Towers are interspersed along the walls with halls
and rooms. They protrude, with slits on three sides, to
allow the guards a full view of the exterior. The third
level forms a terrace, protected by the upper part of the
walls and their round topped rectangular crenellations.
During the Fatimid period there was an observatory on
the terrace above Bab al-Nasr.

The outstanding features of Badr al-Jamali’s fortifi-
cations are the quality of the stone treatment, unparal-
leled in Cairo, and the variety of vaults used in the
walls and gates: shallow domes, barrel vaults, cross
vaults, and also a spiral vault in a staircase at Bab al-
Nasr. Only round arches are used in the architecture of
the whole wall complex.

BaB AL-Nasr (GATE ofF VICTORY)

Bab al-Nasr is composed of two rectangular towers,
which are solid stone up to the second level. The
entrance vestibule is cross vaulted and a pair of shallow
domes on spherical pendentives cover the upper level of

the towers. At Bab al-Futah, the arrangement is the
opposite, with the entrance vestibule having a shallow
dome and the towers each with a cross vault with a
carved medallion at the Above the
entrance arch an inscription slab in Kufic carries the
shahada with the Shi‘a reference to ‘AlL.

A very significant feature of decoration at Bab al-
Nasr are the shields and swords that Creswell identifies
as Byzantine in shape. Some point downward and some
are circular; they are no doubt symbolic of the walls as
being the shields of the city, protecting it against
invaders. The name, ‘‘Gate of Victory,”’ like Bab al-
Futih, “‘Gate of Conquest,’’ should also be understood
as talismanic. Interestingly, these fine walls were never
challenged by invaders, and by the late medieval period
were so encroached upon by other buildings that trav-
elers often reported that Cairo had no fortifications at
all.

During the reign of the Caliph al-Amir, his vizier, al-
Ma’mun al-Bata’ihi who built the al-Agmar mosque,
transferred the observatory from the Mugqattam hill
and established it at Bab al-Nasr. The transportation of
the heavy metal observatory was an extremely difficult
task that needed scaffolds and wheels, a large team of
workers, and an architectural structure to support it.
Al-Ma’mun, however, fell in disgrace before the obser-
vatory could be used, and the angry Caliph ordered it
to be dismounted because it had been named al-rasad al-
ma’munz, which attributed it to the vizier instead of the
Caliph.

Bonaparte’s

intersection.

troops (1798-1801) used Badr al-

Jamali’s fortifications to protect themselves from the

rebellious Cairo population. The Husayniyya quarter,
famous for its untamed character, was not easy to sub-
due. After a French officer of Polish orgin,
Schulkowsky, was killed by 2 Husayniyya resident, the
French troops bombarded Husayniyya from the walls
and entirely demolished the quarter. French officers’
names can still be seen carved near the upper level of
the gates. The French blocked up the crenellations at
the top and enlarged the arrow slits for canon holes.
Creswell also attributes the machicoulis at Bab al-Nasr,
a protruding structure used to spill burning liquids on
attackers, to the French. It was not until the twentieth
century that the walls were cleared and made visible
again.

Between Bab al-Nasr and Bab al-Futuh, a handsome
Kufic inscription of Quranic texts carved in stone runs
along the wall. The northern wall of the mosque of al-
Hakim is incorporated in this part of the fortifications.
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Pl. 51. Bab al-Nasr.

Bap aL-FutUH (GATE oF CONQUEST)

Bab al-Futah’s towers are semicircular; its decora-
tion is both different and more extensive than that at
Bab al-Nasr. The towers each have a carved round arch
and above each arch is a carved rectangle with three
arrow slits, lighting the upper rooms. A carved molding
running along the facade of the towers, two parallel
lines with loops between them, is the earliest example
of such decoration in Cairo but it later became typical
in Mamluk architecture.

The inner flanks of the towers on both sides of the
entrance have round arches with cushion voussoirs (s.
Pls. 68 & 72), and the entrance itself is decorated with
a row of carved lozenges filled with crosses and rosettes.
Atop the entrance arch are carved brackets, two of
them with a ram’s head. The ram is the sign of the
zodiac related to the planet Mars, or al-Qahir, the sign

in ascendancy when the city was officially founded.
Following an ancient oriental tradition, particularly in
Egypt, the rams’ heads obviously had talismanic mean-
ing. The only Islamic motifs on the walls apart from the
Quranic inscriptions are the carved rectangles with an
eight-pointed star found between the carved brackets.

The vestibule is covered with a shallow dome and the
transition between the rectangular room and the spher-
ical dome and the transition between the rectangular
room and the spherical dome are formed by penden-
tives rather than squinches. Squinches are more typical
of eastern—Persian and Mesopotamian——architecture;
pendentives were used in Byzantine dome architecture.

BaAB ZuwAyLa

Bib Zuwayla is on the southern wall of the city, and
is dated 1091-92. The Fatimid armies included mem-
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Pl. 52. Bab al-Futah.
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Pl. 53. Bab Zuwayla.
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bers of the Zuwayla, a North African tribe. Like Bab
al-Futdh, it has a pair of semicircular towers, solid
stone for two-thirds of their height. The inner flanks of
the towers near the entrance are decorated with lobed
arches (s. Pl. 4). These arches had been used earlier in
North African architecture and must have been intro-
duced by craftsmen accompanying the Fatimids’ con-
quest of Egypt. This type of arch is often seen in later
Fatimid and Mamluk architecture. Inside the vestibule
to the right, coming from the south, there is a half-
domed recess with two exquisitely carved arches at the
corners. They have a trilobed curve and the upper part
is treated like a shell. The left-hand side was modified
when Sultan al-Mu’ayyad built his mosque near the
gate and had his minarets placed on the towers.
Between the two towers and facing the southern out-
skirts of the city 1s a loggia that Creswell identifies as
the place for the ceremonial orchestra announcing royal
processions to the accompaniment of music. The
presence of an orchestra at the city gates was an old
oriental tradition.

Looking at Bab Zuwayla from within the city, we see
a gabled roof between the two towers that clearly show
the Byzantine origins of the gate architecture. In fact,
as noted above, most features of the walls and gates are
entirely foreign to Islamic art, apart from some
Quranic inscriptions. Magqrizi comments that Bab al-
Futah, Bab al-Nasr and Bab Zuwayla, the only gates
that did survive, were built by three Christian monks
from Edessa (eastern Turkey) who came to Egypt flee-
ing from the Saljiq conquest of eastern Anatolia.

Unfortunately, nothing similar in that area, or in
Armenia, the homeland of Badr al-Jamali, where
Creswell believes prototypes of the Cairo gates should
be found, has survived. The only analogous architec-
ture is in Hadrian’s tower in the Coptic quarter of Old
Cairo.

As the Byzantine Empire covered a large area of
Anatolia and the eastern Mediterranean, including
northern Mesopotamia where Edessa is situated, there
is little reason to question Maqrizi’s account of the
origins of Badr al-Jamal?’s fortifications. Round arches
with spherical pendentives, Byzantine-style shields,
lozenges filled with rosettes, and cushion voussoirs all
belong to Byzantine architectural tradition.
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THE AL-AQMAR MOSQUE (1125)

In the heart of the Fatimid city, north of the site once
occupied by the great Fatimid palace, stands a small
mosque known as al-Agmar. This again is not the
name of its founder, but an epithet that can be
translated as ‘“The Moonlit.”” Tt was founded by the
vizier of the Caliph al-Amir, Ma’mun al-Bata’ihi.

THE EXTERIOR

This building is of major importance for Cairo’s
architecture, for several reasons. One is the lavish
decoration of its facade. Though the mosque has its
own unique features, it also inspired the decoration of
many buildings of subsequent periods. Another reason
can be seen in the architectural plan of the mosque.
The facade is aligned with the street, while the interior
of the mosque is properly oriented toward Mecca and
has an otherwise regular layout. The adjustment is
made in the facade wall, which is thicker on one end
than the other. Small rooms are inserted in the thicker
part of the wall. This device is typical of later urban

Pl. 54. The al-Agmar mosque.
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religious architecture and expresses the great care
architects took to avoid disturbing the street alignment
with mosque facades set askew.

The facade of al-Agqmar mosque is brick faced with
stone and has a highly sophisticaeed decoration scheme.
Originally, the portal must have been in the center of
the facade. A later building hid the right side, but it 1s
assumed that the right side was decorated like the left.
The middle of the tripartite composition is dominated
by a protruding portal decorated with a large keel arch
niche carved with fluting radiating from a central
medallion, like a sunrise or shell motif. The medallion
has the name Muhammad repeated in a circular inter-
lacing pattern forming a circle, with the name ‘All at
the center.

On both sides of the main niche, smaller niches,-also
with fluted hoods, are surmounted with recesses
crowned with stalactites, the earliest extant stalactites
on a facade decoration.

To the left of the portal another shallow niche repeats
the sunrise or shell motif with a medallion in the center.
Above it, a circular clean cut in the stone reveals the
brick wall, indicating that a medallion once existed
there. Two lozenges, one with geometric carving and
the other with a vase and plant motif, are surmounted
on both sides of the missing medallion by two strange,
carved panels. The one to the right represents a closed
door, similar to the door of al-Hakim (in the Islamic
Museum), and the one to the left shows a niche with a
geometric grill resembling a window, from whose apex
hangs a lamp.

The al-Agmar mosque no doubt has a highly sym-
bolic meaning within the Shi‘a context. Caroline
Williams has interpreted the two plants standing in the
vase as symbolic of Hasan and Husayn, sons of the
Caliph “All by his wife Farima. This pattern is frequent
in Coptic art, with many examples in the Coptic
Museum in Old Cairo. The niches with the hanging
lamp and closed door placed symmetrically on each
side of the missing medallion might be more than mere
decoration.

Two inscription bands run along the facade. The one
at the top has a historic text referring to the Caliph al-
Mustansir in whose reign the mosque was built, and
the Jower band underneath the hooded portal niche has
a Quranic text. Another special feature of this facade is
a chamfered corner carved with the names of Muham-
mad and ‘AlL.

The original minaret did not survive. Today we see
on the left door jamb of the portal the circular base of

10 m.

Fig. 17. The al-Agmar mosque (Creswell).

the minaret built in the late fourteenth century by Amir
Yalbugha al-Salimi. It is a brick construction covered
with stucco chevron carving and a molding with open-
work bosses and a stalactite cornice. The structure
above the balcony is of more recent date.

TuEe INTERIOR

The interior of the mosque has not retained much of
its original form. The small sanctuary has three aisles
and faces the courtyard with only a triple arcade; the
three other arcades have only one aisle each.
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A special feature of the interior architecture is that
each bay’s ceiling is covered by a shallow brick dome,
instead of being flat, except for the aisle parallel to the
gibla wall, which is wider than the rest and is covered
with a flat wooden ceiling. As the mosque was in ruins
when the Mamluk Amir Yalbugha al-Salim1 restored it
in 1397, Creswell assumes that he also restored the
ceiling, which originally could have been flat. This type
of roofing is not known from the Fatimid period, but is
used in the early fifteenth century at the mosque of
Faraj Ibn Barqugq.

Except for some wood carving on the beams and
doors and a stucco inscription band along some of the
arches, nothing of the onginal interior decoration
remains.

The mosque was again restored in the nineteenth
century during the reign of Muhammad ‘Al by Amir
Sulayman Agha al-Silahdar, who also built the mosque
across the street from al-Agmar.

THE SHOPS

The mosque of al-Agmar was not at street level, as
it is today, but much higher than the street level of the
time, standing above a row of shops. The rising level
has buried the shops; at the mosque of al-3alih Tala%¢,
the shops have been excavated.

The shops had an important functional purpose. The
income of their rents were waqf, endowments for the
benefit of a pious institution to maintain the institution
and pay its personnel long after the founder’s death.
The founding of a religious institution was always
accompanied by an endowment of land or commercial
structures in the city such as apartment buildings,
public baths (hammam), shops, or factories. The
founder himself also thereby secured tax-free income
from the rents collected.
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THE MASHHAD OF SAYYIDA RUQAYYA
(1133)

The shrine, or mashhad, of al-Juytashi most likely
commemorates a secular person or idea, but the

Pl. 55. The dome of the mashhad of Sayyida Ruqgayya.

mashhad of Sayyida Rugayya built in the Fustat
cemetery is a religious building. Sayyida Ruqgayya, a
descendent of the Caliph ¢Ali, son-in-law of the
Prophet, never came to Egypt, so this shrine is not a
mausoleum, but what is called a mashhad ru’ya, a visual
memorial.

The architecture of the shrine recalls that of al-

Juyushi, except that this building appears truncated:

the facade through which we enter today must origi-
nally have overlooked a courtyard or enclosure, but is
now open to the cemetery.

A dome above the prayer niche forms the center of
a hall wider than it is deep, and the side rooms are not
vaulted as they are at al-Juyushi, but have a flat
wooden ceiling. The two side rooms flanking the
domed area each have a prayer niche; the third, the
central one, is the main prayer niche. Two more prayer
niches are carved on either side of the entrance, outside
the sanctuary. The dome is larger than any previous
dome and is also fluted, inside and out, with the profile
of a curved keel arch.

Instead of a plain squinch as in previous domes, the
octago